

University of Alabama at Birmingham UAB Digital Commons

All ETDs from UAB

**UAB Theses & Dissertations** 

2014

# Interaction between a Low-Iron Diet and Early-Life Methylmercury Exposure in Daphnia pulex

Sherri Hudson University of Alabama at Birmingham

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection

## **Recommended Citation**

Hudson, Sherri, "Interaction between a Low-Iron Diet and Early-Life Methylmercury Exposure in Daphnia pulex" (2014). *All ETDs from UAB*. 1993. https://digitalcommons.library.uab.edu/etd-collection/1993

This content has been accepted for inclusion by an authorized administrator of the UAB Digital Commons, and is provided as a free open access item. All inquiries regarding this item or the UAB Digital Commons should be directed to the UAB Libraries Office of Scholarly Communication.

## INTERACTION BETWEEN A LOW-IRON DIET AND EARLY-LIFE METHYLMERCURY EXPOSURE IN DAPHNIA PULEX

by

SHERRI L. HUDSON

## JULIA M. GOHLKE, COMMITTEE CHAIR MICHELLE V. FANUCCHI MICKIE L. POWELL

## A THESIS

Submitted to the graduate faculty of The University of Alabama at Birmingham, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Public Health

## BIRMINGHAM, ALABAMA

Copyright by Sherri L. Hudson © 2014

## INTERACTION BETWEEN EARLY-LIFE, LOW-LEVEL METHYLMERCURY EXPOSURE AND A LOW-IRON DIET IN DAPHNIA PULEX

#### SHERRI L. HUDSON

#### ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SCIENCES, MSPH

## ABSTRACT

Methylmercury (MeHg) is a known neurotoxicant and bioaccumulates in fish, with exposure to humans in utero being of highest concern. Iron deficiency (ID) accounts for approximately 50% of anemia cases. Anemia is estimated to affect 1.62 billion people worldwide, and is particularly problematic during pregnancy and early life. Previous studies have shown that ID exacerbates toxicity associated with exposure to metals, including lead, manganese, and cadmium. The overall purpose of this thesis research is to investigate the interaction between a low-iron (Fe) diet and early-life exposure to MeHg in *Daphnia pulex*. I hypothesized when *D. pulex* are fed a low-Fe diet, the toxicity associated with early exposure to MeHg will increase. D. pulex were fed a standard and low-Fe diet with freshwater algae, Ankistrodesmus falcatus, cultured in a standard or low-Fe media. Early-life exposure to MeHg (1600 ng/l) was administered (for 24 hrs in the first 72 hrs. of life), and its effects on lifespan, maturation time, average brood size, and reproduction rate were evaluated. In addition, the effects of low-Fe diet and MeHg exposure on lipid storage were measured using image analysis of Oil Red O (ORO) staining and were also examined through biochemical quantification of total triacylglycerol (TAG). Results suggest that D. pulex that are fed a standard Fe diet had no significant difference in lifespan or reproduction (average brood size and reproduction rate) compared to *Daphnia* on a low-Fe diet. Also, there was no difference in maturation time between low and standard-Fe diets of *Daphnia* as well as between MeHg exposed

iii

and vehicle exposed *Daphnia* fed either diets. However, we observed a significant delay when *Daphnia* were exposed to either the vehicle or MeHg compared to the no exposure control. Image analysis for lipids stained with ORO suggests an interactive effect of diet and MeHg exposure, with MeHg exposure increasing lipid storage particularly in *D*. *pulex* fed a low-Fe diet. Measurement of TAG by using a commercially available kit were not consistent with the ORO results, possibly due to variation introduced from pooled samples and interference from free glycerol in *D. pulex*.

Keywords: metals, iron deficiency, methylmercury, lipid storage, daphnia

## DEDICATION

To my parents, Glenda and Emanuel Hudson, for being major supporters of my life.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was funded by the Department of Environmental Health Sciences and a Future Leader Award to Dr. Gohlke from the International Life Sciences Institute North America (ILSI N.A.). I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Julia Gohlke, and lab mate, Dzigbodi Doke, for their expertise and assistance throughout this project; my committee, Dr. Michelle Fanucchi and Dr. Mickie Powell for their helpful guidance and advice; Andrew Brown for his knowledge and useful tips on lipid analysis; Justin Moore, Amrita Mukerjee and Dr. Gerald McGwin for their help with statistical analysis. Finally, I would like to thank Megan Steed, Tonia Schwartz, Sharia Hudson, and Philip Pearson for their assistance with culture maintenance and data collection.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTiii
DEDICATION v
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS vi
LIST OF TABLEix
LIST OF FIGURES x
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xi
INTRODUCTION1
Iron Deficiency     1       Lifespan     3       Reproduction     4       Lipid Reserves     5       Interactions with other Metals     6
Methylmercury
Mechanism of MeHg Toxicity
Low-level MeHg Toxicity
MeHg and Lifespan
Reproduction effects
Lipid Reserves
Interaction with Nutrition
Daphnia as a model organism15
Lipid Storage16
Iron in <i>D. pulex</i>
Mercury Exposure
SPECIFIC AIMS
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Model Organism

Full and Reduced Iron Algae Culture	. 22
Iron Quantification	. 24
Methylmercury Exposure	. 25
Lifespan and Reproduction	. 26
Oil Red O Staining	. 26
Image Analysis	. 27
Triacylglycerol (TAG) Assay	. 29
Statistical Analysis	. 30
RESULTS	. 31
Iron Quantification	. 31
Algae (A. falcatus)	. 31
D. pulex	. 32
Lifespan and Reproduction	. 33
Lifespan	. 33
Time to First Reproduction	. 36
Average Brood Size	. 40
Reproduction Rate	. 41
Lipid Reserves	. 42
Image Analysis	. 42
TAG Assay	. 45
DISCUSSION	. 47
Iron Deficiency	. 48
Methylmercury	. 49
TAG Assay	. 50
Limitations	. 51
Future Work	. 52
LIST OF REFERENCES	. 53

## LIST OF TABLES

Table Page		
1	Summary Data of A. falcatus Cellular Size	24
2	Data Summary for Fe Concentration in A. falcatus	32
3	Summary of Fe Concentration in <i>D. pulex</i>	33
4	Acute Mortality after MeHg and Vehicle Exposure	34
5	Summary for Lifespan of <i>D. pulex</i> by Diet and MeHg Exposure	35
6	Data Summary of Lifespan of <i>D.pulex</i> by Diet and MeHg	
	Exposure (Controls Combined)	35
6	Summary for Time to First Reproduction	37
8	Wilcoxon Test for Time to First Reproduction in D. pulex	37
9	Summary Data of Average Brood Size by Diet and Exposure	40
10	Summary Statistics of Reproduction Rate	42
11	Data Summary for % Lipid based on Oil Red O staining	43
12	Model for % Lipids and its Covariates	45
13	Data Summary of Triacylglycerol (TAG) Assay	46

## LIST OF FIGURES

Fig	ure Page
1	<i>A. falcatus</i> Cellular Size Grown in either Standard Media (Full Fe) or Media with the Addition of 50% of the Iron in the Standard Media (1/2 Fe)
2	Step-by-step Procedure for Image Analysis for Lipid Staining with Oil Red O in <i>D.pulex</i> using ImageJ
3	Comparison of Fe Concentration in <i>A. falcatus</i> Grown in Standard and Low Fe Media
4	Fe Concentrations of <i>D. pulex</i> Fed Standard and Low Fe Diets
5	Survival Curves for Comparing Vehicle and No Exposure Controls for Standard Fe and Low Fe
6	Survival Curve Comparisons
7	Time to First Reproduction Curves for Standard Fe Diet
8	Time to First Reproduction Curves for Low Fe Diet
9	Low Fe vs Standard Fe Time to First Reproduction between Exposure Groups 39
10	Average Brood Size among Diets and MeHg Exposure
11	Reproduction Rate among Diets and MeHg Exposure
12	Box plot of %Lipid among Diets and Exposure
13	Relationship between %Lipid and Total Body Area by Diet and Exposure
14	TAG Assay Comparison in Diet and Exposure

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CDC	Center for Disease Control and Prevention
CVD	cardiovascular disease
EC <sub>50</sub>	half maximal effective concentration
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
F <sub>0</sub>	parent generation
$\mathbf{F}_1$	first filial/ offspring generation
F <sub>2</sub>	second filial/ children of the offspring
Fe	iron
GSH	glutathione
GSH-Px	glutathione peroxidase
Hg	mercury
ID	iron deficiency
IDA	iron deficiency anemia
LC <sub>25</sub>	lethal concentration for 25% of the population
MeHg	methylmercury
MeOH	methanol
Mn	manganese
NIH	National Institutes of Health
ORO	Oil Red O

- SEM standard error of the mean
- TAG triacylglycerol
- WHO World Health Organization

#### INTRODUCTION

## Iron Deficiency

Iron deficiency (ID) is the most common micronutrient deficiency in the world and is particularly prevalent among women at reproductive age, infants, and young children (CDC 2002). In the US, with the presence of iron (Fe)-fortified foods and high availability of Fe supplements, the prevalence of ID is 7% among toddlers aged 1-2 years and 9-16% among women of reproductive age (CDC 2002). In addition, anemia affected about 1.62 billion people worldwide in 2005, with about half of anemia cases caused by ID, also called iron-deficiency anemia (IDA) (Stoltzfus 2003; WHO 2008). Common risk factors for ID and IDA among adults include a Fe-poor diet, poor absorption of Fe, blood loss due to menstruation, and pregnancy which results in an increased need for Fe (Kalaivani 2009). Furthermore, risk factors or indicators for ID at an early age include premature birth, low birth weight, maternal ID, low dietary intake of Fe, prolonged bottle feeding, and excessive consumption of cow's milk (Parkin & Maquire 2013).

Fe is an essential trace element for almost every living organism, and Fecontaining proteins are involved in enzymatic and antioxidant activities, energy metabolism, carrying and storing oxygen, and transporting and storing Fe (Dallman 1986). In particular, it has been noted that maximal Fe intake in the brain occurs during the rapid period of brain development in rats (Clarkson & Strain 2003).

A complete depletion in Fe storage occurs before the development of IDA (Dallman 1986). ID reduces muscle oxidation capacity, reduces immunity against

infection, and increases cardiac output (Dallman 1986). Most research in ID has analyzed the neurocognitive effects among young children, adolescents, and adults. For instance, IDA has been associated with adverse effects in work productivity, attentiveness, and intolerance to the cold in adults (Friendman et al. 2012). In children, ID has been correlated to impaired binding sites for dopamine and serotonin in the brain, resulting in behavioral changes in children such as increased irritability and becoming uninterested in their surroundings (Dallman 1986). Also, Clarkson and Strain (2003) noted that ID has been associated with adverse effects in mental development among infants and children such as alterations in attention span and decreased intellectual scores; however, ID has not been associated with clinically-defined retardation (Stoltzfus 2003). Moreover, an Icelandic study found no association between Fe depletion and IDA in children at 12 months of age and developmental scores in children at 6 years of age; however, children who were identified with only Fe depletion had significantly lower scores in the described self-help test, a measurement that pertains to the child's ability to take care of oneself, compared to children who were not defined with Fe depletion or were defined with a combination of Fe depletion and IDA (Thorisdottir et al. 2013).

Past research suggests that ID alters the metabolism of toxic substances. For example, it has been shown that ID reduces glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) activity per red blood cell in rats as well as reducing the selenium-dependent GSH-Px by 75% in the liver (Lee, Layman, & Bell 1981). The suggested mechanism for this phenomenon is that the reduction of Fe suppresses the protein synthesis of selenium-dependent GSH-Px (Moriarty et al. 1995). Furthermore, the glutathione (GSH) levels significantly decreased among Egyptian children ages 1-12 years (Al-Biltagi et al. 2013) with IDA. Also, the

presence of intestinal cytochrome P-450 is dependent on dietary Fe intake and decreases in Fe deficient rats; however an increase of cytochrome P-450 was observed in the liver (Dallman 1986). Also, past research has suggested that ID decreases catalase activity in the liver of rats (Lee, Layman, & Bell 1981).

## Lifespan

ID has been shown to be associated with infant and maternal mortality during childbirth in developing countries (Zimmermann & Hurell 2007; Brabin, Brabin, & Gies 2013). In parallel with this finding, Gambling and other researchers (2003) found that offspring of Fe deficient mother rats had a lower survival rate in the first 8 hours compared to Fe sufficient mothers. However, Haider et al. (2013) found that there was no significant difference in perinatal mortality in anemic mothers compared to non-anemic mothers. Also, a placebo-controlled, randomized study in Nepal found that oral supplementation of Fe and folic acid among children ages 1-36 months had no significant benefit in reducing mortality rates compared to those with a placebo (Tielsch et al. 2006).

Later in life, ID has been associated with cardiovascular disease (CVD). For example, Hsu et al. (2012) found a dose-response relationship between serum Fe levels and CVD risk or mortality among Taiwanese elderly ( $\geq$  65 years of age) in long-term care facilities, with increasing severity of ID increasing the risk of CVD and mortality. Moreover, a European study found that ID is common among patients with chronic heart failure and relates to the severity of the disease; also, an increase of all-cause mortality rates was observed in heart failure patients with ID (Klip et al. 2013).

## Reproduction

Past studies have investigated the reproductive effects of ID, predominantly, in terms of preterm birth and low birth weight among humans. For example, Scholl et al. (1992) found that mothers who were Fe deficient had a higher risk of preterm birth (< 37weeks of gestation) compared to the Fe sufficient mothers. In a Hungarian case-control study, researchers found that there was no significant difference between gestation age and birth weight between anemic and non-anemic mothers who had given birth to infants without congenital anomalies, but they mentioned that Fe supplementation was associated with a slight increase in the gestation period and birth weight, although these increases were not statistically significant (Bánhidy et al. 2011). Moreover, a metaanalysis, conducted by Haider et al. (2013), found that an increase in hemoglobin is associated with an increase in birth weight while anemia in the first and second trimesters is associated with a higher risk of preterm birth and stillbirth. These researchers also found that the use of Fe and folic acid supplementation showed no significant effect on preterm birth; however, Fe and folic acid supplementation is found to increase birth weight in infants, with an increasing dosage of Fe resulting in increased birth weight (Haider et al. 2013). However, Fe-folic acid supplementation or multiple micronutrient therapy showed no significant difference on stillbirth outcomes among pregnant Pakistani women with anemia (Bhutta et al. 2009).

In addition, there is some research that analyzes the effects of ID and fertility in animal models. For example, no significant fertility effects such as differences in pregnancy rate and number of offspring were observed in rats when fed a Fe-restricted diet (Gambling et al. 2002; Gambling 2003). Also, the onset of puberty in female rat

offspring of Fe deficient mothers showed no difference from Fe-sufficient mothers (Gambling 2003). On the other hand, ID from a low-Fe diet was associated with reduced conception rate in rats (Li et al. 2014).

#### *Lipid reserves*

There are several studies that observed an association between obesity and ID; however, the relationship between obesity and ID remains unclear. Chung et al. (2011) observed a decrease in hepatic Fe in obese rats fed a high fat diet compared to the controls; from this, they concluded that obesity is a risk factor for ID. Mochonis et al. (2012) reported that obese preadolescents had a significantly higher prevalence of ID compared to overweight and normal weight preadolescents.

In addition, ID has been shown to have effects on lipids in past studies. For example, among Indian adults, those with IDA had a significant increase in triacylglyerol (TAG) levels compared to those who did not (Nandyala et al. 2013). Once these adults were given Fe therapy, researchers observed a significant decrease in TAG levels after 3 months (Nandyala et al. 2013). Stangl and Kirchgessner (1998) found that ID alters the metabolism of lipids in rats and that TAG levels in the livers of Fe deficient rats were not affected while serum TAG levels were increased compared to Fe sufficient rats. Davis et al. (2012) observed an increased amount of TAG in ID rats that were fed a sucrose-based diet compared to rats fed a Fe-sufficient diet and the Fe-deficient rats that were fed a corn starch-based diet. Researchers found that ID up-regulated gene expression responsible for lipid metabolism such as sterol regulatory binding protein-1c and fatty acid synthase in the sucrose-based diet, but no significant increase in expression of these genes were found in the corn starch-based diet (Davis et al. 2012). Moreover, maternal ID has been found to alter the lipid composition, but not the concentration in the brains of guinea pig offspring as well as decreasing total lipid concentration in the liver (LeBlanc et al. 2009).

#### Interactions with Other Metals

There has been preliminary evidence that ID may exacerbate the toxicity of other metals. For example, Goyer (1997) noted that there was an inverse relationship between ferritin levels in the blood and cadmium absorption in the gastrointestinal track. Moreover, Peraza et al. (1998) reported that workers who were exposed to cadmium had decreased hematocrit and hemoglobin levels. In a controlled laboratory setting, researchers demonstrated that cadmium interferes with Fe metabolism and absorption, causing a reduction in kidney and liver Fe concentrations in rats (Peraza et al. 1998). To support this finding, cadmium and lead in the blood and urine of anemic Pakistani children (1-10 years) was measured and an association was found between an increased concentration of cadmium and lead and a decrease in blood ferritin levels (Shah et al. 2010). However, a Swedish study, conducted by Berglund et al. (1994), did not find a significant association between blood ferritin levels and cadmium concentration in the blood and urine among nonsmoking women of reproductive age (20-50 years of age) who reported a high-fiber or mixed diet. In addition, a study was conducted in Japan to investigate the absorption of dietary cadmium in Fe deficient, nonsmoking women; from this, researchers found an insignificant increase in cadmium concentrations in the blood and urine in Fe deficient women compared to their controls (Tsukahara et al. 2002). To investigate the mechanism of ID and metals toxicity, Park et al. (2002) found that

divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1), a protein that primarily transports Fe through cellular membranes, was associated with increased intestinal cadmium absorption in Fe deficient rats after 48 hours of cadmium exposure through oral administration.

Along with cadmium, the absorption and toxicity of other metals has been investigated in Fe deficient subjects. For example, Wright et al. (1999) observed that ID is significantly associated with low-level lead poisoning among children 9 to 48 months. Past research suggested a mechanism that, during absorption in the gastrointestinal track, lead competes with Fe binding sites and inhibits ferrochelatase activity (Goyer 1997; Peraza 1998). However, it is not known if blood-lead levels are increased due to ID or if ID is the result of lead poisoning. Furthermore, Goyer (1997) explains that ID is also responsible for the increased absorption of aluminum. Since aluminum has similar properties as Fe, it has been suggested that aluminum competes with Fe in its specific binding sites in the gut. Also, ID led to an increased absorption of manganese chloride in rats and increased manganese (Mn) toxicity (Chandra 1976). Heilig et al. (2004) confirmed Mn blood levels were 3 to 4-fold higher in Fe-deficient rats; the author later explains that although lung absorption of Mn was not significantly increased by ID, the clearance of Mn in the blood was reduced. One suggested mechanism for Mn toxicity is that trivalent Mn binds to transferrin, a serum protein, and circulates through the blood to the brain, where toxicity occurs (Heilig et al. 2004; Erikson 2005). To our knowledge, the interaction between methylmercury (MeHg) and ID has not been observed.

#### Methylmercury

MeHg is a known neurotoxicant that affects the developing brain and leads to intellectual and developmental disabilities (Hong 2012). Most MeHg production is due to the release of inorganic mercury (Hg) into the air from natural and anthropogenic sources and is subsequently methylated by aquatic microorganisms (ASTDR 1999). The United Nations Environmental Programme (2013) estimates that 30% of Hg emissions is due to anthropogenic sources; in which, small artesian gold mining is responsible for the majority of the anthropogenic releases at more than 35% while coal burning is the second man-made release of Hg at more than 20%. Moreover, about 10% of the total Hg emissions come from natural emissions such as volcanic activity, while 60% is due to reemission of the Hg that already exists in the environment. Released elemental and inorganic Hg deposits in water bodies, the microorganisms of the aquatic system methylate Hg; thus, increasing its bioavailability to other organisms and bioaccumulating in fish (Gochfeld 2003).

The primary source of human exposure to MeHg is through fish consumption, with an increased risk from consumption of fish from higher trophic levels such as shark, marlin, and aquatic mammals (ASTDR 1999). In addition, infants also acquire MeHg prenatally via *in utero* exposure or through the consumption of contaminated breast milk (Bakir et al. 1973). The clinical manifestations of acute MeHg poisoning in adults includes a tingling sensation around the mouth, hands and feet; muscle weakness; and trouble with coordination (Clarkson, Magos, & Myers 2003; Taber & Hurley 2008). Severe poisoning symptoms include blindness, coma, and death among adults (Bakir et al. 1973). Furthermore, prenatal exposure to high-level MeHg results in cerebral palsy-

like symptoms in young children such as severe retardation, deformity of the limbs, improper growth and nutrition, and microcephaly even when the mothers were asymptomatic (Harada 1978).

MeHg became the center of public health concern since the industrial mercury pollution in the waters around the Minamata area of Japan in the 1950s and 1960s, causing widespread MeHg poisoning, also diagnosed as Minamata disease, among villagers who consumed the highly contaminated seafood (Harada 1978). Symptoms of Minamata disease in adults included but were not limited to impairment of speech, hearing impairment, tremors, and reduced visual fields (Eto 1997). Although expectant mothers of the region showed no signs of Minamata disease, their children showed apparent signs of MeHg poisoning (Harada 1978; Clarkson & Strain 2003).

Another widespread MeHg poisoning occurred in Iraq in 1971-72 and was responsible for over 450 deaths (Bakir et al. 1973; Al-Damluji & CCMP 1976). The Iraqi MeHg poisoning epidemic was the result of the improper use of seed grain that was treated with antifungal MeHg for homemade bread making in rural areas (1973; 1976). Iraqis suffering from MeHg poisoning showed similar symptoms as Minamata disease, and from this, researchers found that the severity of MeHg poisoning symptoms is dosedependent and vulnerability is age-dependent (Al-Damluji & CCMP 1976; Hurley, Hayman & Taber 2008). Also, they found that MeHg has a latent effect of its toxicity, with symptoms appearing on an average of 3 weeks after exposure (Al-Damluji & CCMP 1976). Through additional epidemiologic research, the Iraqi MeHg poisoning confirmed that the fetus is more susceptible to MeHg exposure compared to adults (Harada 1978).

## Mechanism of MeHg Toxicity

MeHg and its toxic effects have been studied at the molecular level as well as the cellular and organ pathological level; however, the mechanism of MeHg toxicity is not yet fully understood. This organic compound is lipid soluble and absorbs easily in the lungs, on the skin, and in the gastrointestinal tract with a half-life of about 50 days in humans (Peraza et al. 1998; Gochfeld 2003). Moreover, it is well known that MeHg has a high affinity to sulfhydryl (thiol) groups, making multiple targets available for toxicity such as cysteine and mimics methionine to cross the blood-brain barrier and placenta to affect the brain, as well as binding to other thiol-containing proteins, resulting in nonspecific cell injury or death (Hurley, Hayman, & Taber 2008; Liu, Goyer, & Waalkes 2008; Peraza et al. 1998; Liu, Goyer, & Waalkes 2008).

Also, past studies indicated that MeHg causes oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation and neuronal cell damage as well as damage to microtubules in cells (Peraza et al. 1998). In common Loon (*Gavia immer*) chicks, Kenow et al. (2008) found when *G. immer* were exposed to dietary MeHg at 0.4 and 1.2  $\mu$ g Hg/g, increasing blood Hg was associated with an increased amount of oxidized glutathione, a sign of oxidative stress; this finding was also paired with the reduction of GSH-Px activity in the brain of the 105 day old chicks.

## Low-level MeHg Toxicity

At low levels, MeHg exposure significantly reduced the number of neuronal stem cells in rats as well as an observed reduction of neurons in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Bose et al. 2012). This exposure did not cause apoptosis or necrosis in

neuronal stem cells from rats; however, it altered the cell cycle regulators, lengthening the cell cycle and thereby reducing the total number of cells (Bose et al. 2012).

Later, Guo et al. (2013) showed prenatal exposure to MeHg (0-1mg/kg/day) is associated with disruption of the neuronal migration in the cerebral cortex of offspring rats. Similar to Bose et al., they found that MeHg did not induce apoptosis; however, it did alter the proliferation of neural progenitor cells (Guo et al. 2013).

#### MeHg and lifespan

Past studies have suggested that MeHg exposure does not affect lifespan. From a life table analysis study, exposure to MeHg did not affect the life expectancy of the Japanese (Tamashiro, Fukutomi, & Lee 1987). Also, MeHg did not affect the survival of adult fathead minnows (Hammerschmidt et al. 2002). Lifespan was not affected in mice when given 1ppm of MeHgCl administered in the water; however, among mice that were administered 5ppm in water and then were administered 1ppm later in life (> 90 days of age), the survivors had a longer lifespan compared to those given a lower dose early in life (Schroeder & Mitchener 1974). In addition, Helmcke et al. (2009) did not observe an effect in lifespan of surviving nematodes (*Caenorhabitis elegans*) when exposed to water-dissolved MeHgCl for 30 minutes (0-1.5 mM MeHgCl) or 15 hours (0-0.4 mM MeHgCl). Furthermore, a significant decrease in the survival of male *Fundulus heteroclitus*, a forage fish from the marine ecosystem was observed after dietary exposure to MeHgCl (0.5 -11  $\mu$ g MeHg/g) compared to their gender-paired controls (Matta et al. 2001).

## Reproduction effects

Past studies have reported that low levels of MeHg did not affect conception or live births in women; however, at high levels, MeHg drastically reduces conception rate (Harada 1968; Zahir et al. 2005). Moreover, primate studies, summarized by Mottet et al. (1985), have shown a relationship between increasing maternal blood MeHg (< 1.0 ppm) and increasing rate in reproductive failures (i.e., decreasing pregnancy rate as well as an increase in abortion rate). However, low doses of MeHg have been suggested to increase reproduction in birds. The percentages of the hatched eggs and number of 6 day-old mallard (Anas platyrhynchos) ducklings were significantly higher in those that were fed a daily commercial duck diet mixed with  $0.5\mu g/g$  MeHgCl<sub>2</sub> dissolved corn oil versus the duck diet alone(Heinz et al. 2010). However, higher doses of MeHg (>4.6 mg/kg dry weight) had a negative effect on eggs hatched and number of fledglings among American Kestrels (*Falco sparverius*) (Albers et al. 2007). Along with reproduction in birds, brood size significantly decreased in *C. elegans* when exposed at a concentration of 1mM MeHgCl at early life; however, other concentrations of MeHg (0.1, 0.4, & 10 mM) did not show an effect on brood size (Helmcke et al. 2009). In another study, a decrease in C. elegans brood size is observed in chronic MeHg exposure (VanDuyn et al. 2010). In fish, dietary MeHg has been shown to reduce the number of eggs laid and spawning success of fathead minnows; dietary MeHg exposure also reduced the gonadal development in female fathead minnows (Hammerschmidt et al. 2002). Furthermore, MeHg caused altered reproductive behaviors of male fathead minnows (Sandheinrich & Miller 2005). One study investigating the reproductive effects of MeHg in F. heteroclitus found that fecundity was not significantly altered after dietary exposure to MeHgCl

compared to the controls; however, a non significant decrease in fecundity was observed after exposure to the highest concentration (11  $\mu$ g/g) tested (Matta et al. 2001).

#### Lipid reserves

There have been some studies that investigated the effects of Hg-containing compounds in lipid reserves. Drevnick et al. (2008) observed that lipid reserves decreased when exposed to high inorganic Hg concentrations and an increased accumulation of lipofuscin, a dark-colored pigment that indicates lipid peroxidation, in the liver of Northern Pike. Moreover, Kawakami et al. (2011) suggested that mice on a high-fat diet showed a significant reduction in white adipose tissue, as well as a significant reduction of plasma TAG, after exposed to subcutaneous injections of mercuric chloride (HgCl) for 10 days. Moreover, the rats' TAG levels in the brain, spinal cord, liver, and kidney had reduced significantly when exposed to a daily dose of MeHg at a concentration of 1 mg/kg for 7 days (Sood et al. 1997). In another study, dietary exposure of MeHg (1-2 ppm) in rats that were fed a 5% fish oil diet showed a significant decrease in plasma TAG concentration compared to control rats and rats on a 5% lard diet; however, when rats were fed a lard diet and exposed to 2ppm MeHg, a significant decrease in phospholipids was observed and not in the fish oil diet (Shirai et al. 2012).

## Interaction with Nutrition

Many epidemiological and experimental studies have investigated the association between MeHg exposures and nutrition. The most famous epidemiological research studies for MeHg exposure were the Seychelles (Davidson et al. 1998), Faroe Islands

(Grandjean et al. 1997; Debes et al. 2006), and New Zealand (Kjellström et al. 1986; Kjellström et al. 1989). In the Seychelles study, 711 mother-child pairs were investigated to determine associations between prenatal and postnatal exposure to MeHg, primarily through the consumption of ocean fish, and neurodevelopment of children through a series of evaluations. No association between neurodevelopmental outcomes and MeHg exposures was found in this cohort (Davidson et al. 1998). On the other hand, the primary exposure to MeHg in the Faroe Islands is due to the consumption of whale meat. Among those who were prenatally exposed to low levels of MeHg, an adverse effect in language abilities, memory, and attention was observed in children at 7-years old (Grandjean et al. 1997). Later, by 14 years of age, researchers found a correlation of prenatal MeHg exposure and adverse effects on attention and language abilities as well; however, they found a negative association in motor speed, not in memory (Debes et al. 2006). Therefore, it is believed that the dietary source of MeHg influences its toxicity.

Also, deficiencies in trace essential elements have been shown to alter the toxicity of MeHg, especially in selenium and zinc (Chapman & Chan 2000). Selenium has been shown to decrease the toxicity of MeHg. For example, Bjerregaard and Christensen (2012) found an increase in MeHg elimination when fed selenium in brown shrimp, *Crangon crangon*. Furthermore, this study also noted that the MeHg-selenium interaction was dependent upon exposure time, concentration, and type of selenium compound such as, selenite, Se-cystine, and Se-methionine enhance MeHg elimination in *C. crangon* but, selenate did not (Bjerregaard & Christensen 2012). Also, Beyrouty and Chan (2005) found no protective effect of selenium supplements in terms of postnatal survival among MeHg exposed rats; however, a protective effect in postnatal survival

was observed when selenium was administered in conjunction with vitamin E. In addition, a recent study suggested that Fe status is not associated with MeHg levels among Amazonian women of reproductive age (12-49 years); therefore, Fe status, whether Fe deficient or not, did not alter MeHg concentrations in the hair (Fonesca, et al. 2014).

#### Daphnia as a model organism

For this study, the model *Daphnia pulex* was selected for toxicity testing of earlylife MeHg exposure. *D. pulex*, a freshwater crustacean, is listed as a National Institutes of Health (NIH) model organism for biomedical research. It is widely used for ecotoxiological studies and is believed to be a sensitive model to investigate developmental and disease processes (NIH 2013). Lampert (2006) notes that *D. pulex* is easy to maintain in laboratory cultures, due to its quick reproduction and short generation times of about 60 days; therefore, a large population can be produced within a short period.

Due to its phenotypic and ecological diversity, *D. pulex* is suggested as a versatile model to investigate macromolecular relationships and cellular functions (NIH 2013). Moreover, it is an ideal model for toxicity testing due to its quick responses to environmental changes and to its transparency for physiological studies such as pathogens, parasites, respiration, osmoregulation, food uptake, digestion, and growth patterns (NIH 2013; Lampert 2006). There is some evidence that mineral limitation by the imbalance of chemicals affects *Daphnia's* growth while population crowding, morphology and biochemical composition affects the performance of *Daphnia* (Lampert

2006). Also, since it carries developing eggs in its brood pouch, calculating *D. pulex* life history and population dynamic parameters is relatively easy (Lampert 2006).

In addition, the organism's energy and carbon budgets were constructed from physiological data to estimate its production under various conditions, leading to the sophisticated mathematical models that describe *D. pulex* growth processes, reproduction, and survival (Lampert 1977; Lampert 2006). Since the organism's genome, physiology, population dynamics and ecosystem impact have been well-studied, *D.pulex* is also accessible for mathematical modeling in various environments (Lampert 2006). With the recent sequencing of the *D. pulex* genome, it could be used as a model to investigate the interaction between environmental stressors and genes (NIH 2013). Furthermore, this model can reproduce parthenogenetically (clonal reproduction); therefore, clones are able to be maintained in laboratories for an extended period of time (Lampert 2006). Also, researchers can analyze tissue-specific gene expression at any life stage due to its transparency. Moreover, *Daphnia* reproductive effects are sensitive to food quality, in particular, to low nitrogen concentrations of *Ankistrodesmus falcatus* (Kilham 1997).

## Lipid Storage

Lipid storage in *D. pulex* is mostly composed of TAG and indicates its feeding success (Tessier & Goulden 1982). These lipids, inherited from the mother to the neonates, offer protection against starvation and fluctuate according to population size (Tessier & Goulden 1982; Goulden & Hornig 1979). Goulden and Price (1990) also found that most lipids (>98%) in *Daphnia* originate from the organism's diet. This

means that *Daphnia* is highly dependent on the quality of their diet since a minute amount of lipids are synthesized. Also, reproductive success can be estimated by lipid storage (Tessier & Goulden 1982), with an increased presence of lipids indicating a higher success in reproduction; furthermore, this study observed a positive relationship between body size and lipid storage size, except in neonates and *D. pulex* juveniles at the late instar (Tessier & Goulden 1982). A past study concluded that lipid reserves in *Daphnia* are responsive to stressors such as temperatures, extreme light, and selective predation (Filho, Soares, & Loureiro 2010). In particular, TAG in *D. pulex* fluctuates in different seasons and is influenced by temperature, with the highest concentrations observed in the cooler fall and winter months (Arts et al. 1992).

Along with physical environmental factors, TAG in *Daphnia* is also responsive to chemical exposures. In particular, lipids of *D. magna* are considered as the most sensitive of all energy reserves after acute exposures to chemical stressors (DeCoen & Janssen 2002). Arzate-Cárdenas and Martínez-Jerónimo (2012) found that energy reserves, consisting of carbohydrates, lipids, and proteins, in *Daphnia* are reliable stressor biomarkers to evaluate the effects of hexavalent chromium toxicity at sublethal doses  $(1/5^{th} \text{ and } 1/25^{th} \text{ of EC}_{50})$ . From this, they observed a decrease in lipid reserves when *D.schodeleri* were exposed to hexavalent chromium except among 5 and 7 day-old organisms; also, 3 and 28-day-old *Daphnia* did not exhibit a decrease in lipids when exposed to hexavalent chromium at 1/25 of EC<sub>50</sub> ( $6.3\mu g/L$  and  $10.4\mu g/L$  for their respective ages) (Arzate-Cárdenas and Martínez-Jerónimo 2012).

## *Iron in D. pulex*

In *D. pulex*, Fe is required for hemoglobin synthesis, which assists *Daphnia* with survival in low-oxygen environments (Smaridge 1956; Engle 1985). During hemoglobin synthesis, Fe can be found mostly in the gut walls, fat cells, and ovaries; when the *Daphnia* is moved from a hypoxic environment to an aerated environment, hemoglobin is no longer needed and the Fe is excreted through the shell-glands (Smaridge 1956).

Past studies have investigated the presence of Fe and its toxicity in *Daphnia*. For example, the 48-hr EC<sub>50</sub> of supplemental Fe was estimated to be  $73.2\pm17.4 \ \mu g/L$  in the water for *D. magna* (Bošnir et al. 2013). Also, Dave (1984) noted that Fe is essential for reproduction in *Daphnia*. Also, compared to the controls (0  $\mu$ g Fe/L), he observed reproduction decreased when waterborne concentrations were above  $32\mu$ g Fe/L and a steady decline in survival at concentrations above  $512 \ \mu$ g Fe/L (Dave 1984). However, to our knowledge, there have been no studies that have investigated the effects of ID in *Daphnia*.

## Mercury Exposure

There have been several studies that investigated mercury's toxicity in *Daphnia*. For example, Tian-yi and McNaught (1992) analyzed the toxicity of chronic MeHg exposure among *D. pulex* cultured in lake water and its acute and chronic effects on reproduction, growth rate, and natality. This study observed a reduction in age-specific birth rate and total offspring when exposed between 10 ng/L to 1000 ng/L MeHg every 3 days throughout lifespan as well as a gradual increase in early deaths (Tian-yi & McNaught 1992). From this, they calculated the half maximal effective concentration

 $(EC_{50})$  for *D. pulex*'s reproduction in the first generation was 707ng/L while the lethal concentration for 25% of the population (LC<sub>25</sub>) is 794ng/L (Tian-yi & McNaught 1992). Previous research has suggested that the accumulation of MeHg in zooplankton increases by increasing body size and a higher concentration of MeHg is found in the phospholipids compared to TAGs. However, the same study concluded that MeHg accumulation in these organisms was not affected by dietary intake, but by its habitat (Kainz, et al. 2001). Furthermore, *Daphnia* eliminates MeHg quite rapidly with most of the MeHg loss through water excretion and reproduction (Tsui & Wang 2004). In addition, maternal transfer of MeHg has been observed in the undeveloped eggs and neonates of *Daphnia magna*, and has been associated with increasing MeHg content in eggs as well as a reduced survival rate in the offspring (Tsui & Wang 2004). Tsui and Wang (2004) also found that the maternal transfer of Hg showed a tolerance to Hg in the offspring ( $F_1$ ) of exposed *D. magna* parents ( $F_0$ ); however, the  $F_2$  generation did not show a tolerance to Hg. Also, they have observed hormesis, or a beneficial relationship, in the F<sub>1</sub> generation in terms of reproduction when exposed to 1.5nM Hg (Tsui & Wang 2004).

## SPECIFIC AIMS

The overall purpose of this study is to investigate the long-term effects of the interaction between poor nutrition, particularly a low Fe diet, and early-life, low-level, exposure to MeHg. I hypothesize when *D. pulex* are fed a low-Fe diet, the toxicity associated with early exposure to MeHg will become exacerbated. To test these hypotheses, the following specific aims have been considered:

(1) Compare the reproductive and life history parameter effects in *D. pulex* that are fed a standard and low-Fe diet and exposed to MeHg early in life. This will be done by analyzing the survival rate, time until first reproduction, and average brood size.

*Hypothesis 1*: A shortened lifespan will be observed in *D. pulex* when fed a low Fe diet or exposed to MeHg;

*Hypothesis* 2: *D. pulex* will yield less offspring when exposed to MeHg or when fed a low-Fe diet;

(2) Compare the effects of low-Fe diet and MeHg exposure in *D. pulex* on lipid storage. This will be done by quantifying the amount and size of lipid droplets through image analysis of *D. pulex* stained with Oil Red O (ORO). Lipid levels will also be biochemically examined through fluorometric measurement of TAG levels.

*Hypothesis 1*: *D. pulex* that are fed a low-Fe diet will have a higher amount of lipids compared to those fed a standard-Fe diet

*Hypothesis 2: D. pulex* exposed to MeHg will have a lower lipid content compared to those not exposed to MeHg.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Model Organism

The *Daphnia pulex* culture was established from clones sent from Dr. Joe Shaw's laboratory at Indiana University. This clonal line has been maintained in our laboratory since 2011. *Daphnia* were maintained in COMBO media as described by Kilham, et al. (1998) at a density of approximately 20 animals per 1L beaker. COMBO is reconstituted water that has been shown to support *Daphnia* growth and reproduction (Kilham et al. 1998). Briefly, major stocks Calcium Chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>), Magnesium Sulfate (MgSO<sub>4</sub>), Sodium Bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>), Sodium Metasilicate (Na<sub>2</sub>SiO<sub>3</sub>), Potassium Chloride (KCl), and Boric Acid (H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub>) were added along with Selenium and Animate stock solutions to ultrapure deionized water (Elga: Purelab Ultra MK2, TOC 3-10X) and aerated for at least 11 hrs prior to use. *Daphnia* were kept in a temperature controlled chamber (22.5°C  $\pm$  0.5°C, Percival, I36NLXC8) on a 12:12 light: dark cycle. Similar to previous research (Shaw et al. 2007), cultures were fed freshwater phytoplankton, *Ankistrodesmus falcatus*, every 48 hours, at a concentration of 80,000 cells/mL, unless as explained below.

#### Full and Reduced Iron Algae Culture

Ankistrodesmus falcatus algal cells were obtained from Carolina Biological (15-1955 Ankistrodesmus Alga-Gro freshwater). Standard-Fe algae were cultured in growth medium containing Woods Hole MBA Macro- and Micronutrient stocks that includes CaCl<sub>2</sub>, MgSO<sub>4</sub>, NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, Na<sub>2</sub>SiO<sub>3</sub>, Potassium Phosphate (K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>), Sodium Nitrate (NaNO<sub>3</sub>), ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), Ferrous Chloride (FeCl<sub>3</sub>), Copper Sulfate (CuSO<sub>4</sub>), Zinc Sulfate (ZnSO<sub>4</sub>) Cobalt Chloride (CoCl<sub>2</sub>), Manganese Chloride (MnCl<sub>2</sub>), and Ammonium Molybdate (Mo<sub>7</sub>O<sub>24</sub>(NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>6</sub>) and vitamin stocks (biotin, thiamin, pyridoxine, pyridoxamine, calcium panthothenate, B<sub>12</sub>, nicotinic acid, nicotinamide, folic acid, riboflavin, and inositol) as detailed by Kilham et al. (1998). To reduce the Fe content in algae, algae were cultured by the stated protocol; however, the FeCl<sub>2</sub> stock solution and the Fe chelating agent, EDTA concentrations were reduced by half in the growth medium. Algal cells were harvested via centrifugation and/or filtration and washed with COMBO 3 times to remove any residual FeCl<sub>2</sub> and EDTA from the algal growth media.

To determine the feeding rate, a standard curve was developed relating cell number to intensity readings at 680nm wavelength on a Beckman Coulter, DU <sup>®</sup> 800 spectrophotometer. First, the concentrated and washed algal cells from each treatment group were diluted (factors of 12, 24, 48, and 96) and counted using a hemocytometer. Diluted algae were also placed in the spectrophotometer to find the optical density. Linear regression was used to estimate the corresponding cell concentration from the spectrophotometer reading. Cell concentrations for each diet were estimated separately since Fe concentrations has been shown to affect chlorophyll content (Kosakowska et al. 2004; Fan et al. 2014). Algal cell size, also shown to alter according to Fe levels (Marchetti & Cassar 2009), was examined in the low Fe versus standard Fe media via microscopy and image analysis using ImageJ (Figure 1). The feed rate was adjusted to
account for a 10% reduction in cell size of *A. falcatus* cells grown in the reduced Fe media, summarized in Table 1.



Figure 1. *A. falcatus* Cellular Size Grown in either Standard Media (Full Fe) or Media with the Addition of 50% of the Iron in the Standard Media (1/2 Fe). Error bars represent the standard error of the mean (SEM)

Table 1. Summary analysis of A. falcatus Cellular Size

Treatment	N=	Mean (µm) ± SEM	
Full Fe	25	$56.40\pm2.18$	<i>p</i> = 0.1124
¹⁄₂ Fe	25	$51.00\pm2.53$	

# Iron Quantification

Iron content was determined in *A. falcatus* grown in reduced and standard Fe media and *Daphnia* fed *A. falcatus* grown in either standard or reduced Fe media. Fe was quantified using an acid-based commercial assay (QuantiChrom<sup>TM</sup> Iron Assay Kit BioAssay Systems DIFE-250, Hayward CA). In this assay, hydrochloric acid separates iron from proteins while ascorbic acid reduces Fe<sup>3+</sup> in the sample to Fe<sup>2+</sup>; this kit also utilizes a chromogen (tris(2-pyridyl)-s-triazine) to form a blue-colored complex with Fe<sup>2+</sup>

(Fischer & Price 1962; Schilt & Taylor 1970). Both algal and *Daphnia* samples were sonicated (Branson Sonifier 250) with 10 bursts at a pressure of 30%. The sonicated mixture was incubated with reaction mix at room temperature for 40 minutes and then centrifuged at max speed (13,000 RPM/g) for 10 minutes. *Daphnia* of various ages (14-51 days) went through a 24h fasting period before harvested to determine Fe levels to minimize the effect of algae in gut. The fasted *Daphnia* were homogenized with the reaction mix. The homogenized samples were centrifuged and incubated as previously described.  $200\mu$ L- $50\mu$ L were loaded into wells of a clear bottom plate, filling with deionized Ultrapure (PURELAB, Elga LabWater) water to reach  $250\mu$ L. Standards and samples were read by a colorimetric plate reader (Spectramax Plus 384) at peak absorbance of 590nm. The final concentrations for algae and *Daphnia* were expressed in mg Fe/100,000 cells and µg Fe/ *Daphnia*, adjusting for cell count and number of animals, respectively (Garcia et al. 2007).

#### Methylmercury Exposure

For the stock solution, 10mg of methylmercury II chloride (Sigma Aldrich) were dissolved in 1.7 mL of methanol and then added to 1L deionized Ultrapure water. For each diet treatment, *D. pulex* neonates ( $\leq$  2days) used for experiments were exposed to MeHg at a concentration of 1600ng/L (38.4µL of MeHgCl<sub>2</sub> stock solution in 240mL of COMBO media in glass bottles) for 24hrs without food. To verify the effects were due to only MeHg, the treatment groups were paired with a 0ng/L control and a vehicle control (0.2µL/L MeOH). A total of six treatment groups were evaluated: low -Fe diet and earlylife MeHg exposure, low-Fe diet and vehicle control, low-Fe diet no exposure control,

25

standard Fe diet and early-life MeHg exposure, standard Fe diet and vehicle control, and standard Fe diet no exposure control.

## Lifespan & Reproduction

Prior to experiments, *Daphnia* were acclimated to either low or standard Fe diets for at least two generations. The parents of experimental animals were individually kept in 50mL polypropylene centrifuge tubes with 30mL of COMBO and checked every 48h for offspring. All offspring after the third clutch were used for experiments. The day the *Daphnia* are harvested from the parents are labeled as "Day 0". Following the 24 hr. exposure period (Day 1), at least 20 *D. pulex* were placed in 50mL centrifuge tubes with 30mL COMBO media, fed with either standard or reduced Fe *A. falcatus* at the respective feed rate described above. *Daphnia* received media changes with fresh algae and were checked for death and number of offspring every 48 hours, starting at "Day 3". Since no exposure controls did not undergo an exposure period, *Daphnia* lifespan and reproduction were checked and recorded, starting at "Day 2". Age at first reproduction, average brood size, total reproduction and lifespan was calculated for each *Daphnia*. Average brood size was calculated by dividing the total number of offspring over the total reproduction cycles while lifespan reproduction was total offspring divided by total days lived.

#### Oil Red O (ORO) Staining

ORO is a lipid soluble dye that specifically stains neutral lipids and cholesterol esters (Raírez-Zacarías, Castro-Muñozledo, & Kuri-Harcuch, 1992). Modeling from Yen et. al (2010) and Soukas et al. (2009), a stock solution was prepared by adding 0.5g of

ORO powder (Sigma Aldrich) to 100mL of 2-propanol (isopropanol) alcohol and allowed to equilibrate at room temperature for several days. Within 15 minutes prior to staining, the stock solution was diluted with 40% of Ultrapure water and set at room temperature for 10 minutes and then was filtered using a 100µm nylon mesh strainer (Fisher). One part of the diluted stock was mixed with 3 parts of 2-propanol to create a working stock that remains stable for about 2 hours.

Using live, 6-8 day old *D. pulex*, samples were placed in microcentrifuge tubes and water was removed by using pipettes. 1mL of the ORO working stock was added into the tubes, and the closed tubes were inverted several times to resuspend *Daphnia*. The samples were incubated in the ORO working solution at room temperature for 45 to 60 minutes. The stained specimens were then washed with 70% ethanol twice and were fixed using 70% ethanol on a concave microscope slide (Pearl 7103). Fixed *D. pulex* were placed under a microscope (Olympus BX41) at 4x magnification. Using an external light source, light was placed on the bottom outer corners of the slide at full light intensity. The slide was adjusted until the compound eye and lipid droplets were visible and defined. All images were taken with a digital camera (Olympus Q Color 5), using QCapture software.

#### Image Analysis

Image analysis was conducted using ImageJ freeware (Rasband 2014). To visualize the droplets easily, the dark background was subtracted (Figure 2B). The thresholding method was set on default while the threshold color was set on red. Also, the color space was selected as HSB (Hue, Saturation, and Brightness). To highlight the

red color, the "pass" option was unchecked on the hue selection to activate the bandreject filter while the "pass" option was checked to activate band-pass filter for both saturation and brightness selections. Using the original corresponding image as a reference (Figure 2A), the images were adjusted according to color threshold, highlighting only the red lipid signal, shown in Figure 2C (Deustch et al. 2014). The image was then converted to a grayscale image using the red, green, and blue stack. The green channel was selected (Figure 2D) and thresholded (Figure2E). As described in Stamps and Linit (1995), percentage lipid area is used to measure lipid content of *D. pulex*. To measure lipid area percentage, *D. pulex* was selected around the outer edges of the body, omitting the appendages with use of the freehand selection tool. The selected image was then analyzed by using *Analyze Particles* and summarized. Percentage lipid area was recorded as % *Area* and then compared among diet and exposure groups.



Figure 2. Step-by-step Procedure to Image Analysis for Lipid Staining with Oil Red O in *D. pulex* using ImageJ: (A) Original image (B) Image with dark background subtracted (C) Dyed oil droplets highlighted via threshold, in bright red (D) Green channel selected in the RGB stack (E) Image re-thresholded in red.

### Triacylglycerol (TAG) Assay

Lipid content was also evaluated using a commercial TAG fluorometric assay (BioVision, K622-100). This enzymatic kit uses lipase to convert TAG into free fatty acids and glycerol. For every plate, a TAG standard was placed in the wells at a concentration of 0.1, 0.08, 0.06, 0.04, 0.02, and 0 nM to create a standard curve. 6-8 day old *D. pulex* ( $n \approx 40$ ) were placed in 1.5mL microcentrifuge tubes, and wet weight was recorded prior to sample preparation.

Sample preparations and assays were followed as directed on the kit's protocol: D.pulex were sonicated in 1 mL of NP-40 (Branson Sonifier 250) and then heated between 85-100°C and cooled to room temperature twice to dissolve the lipids into the detergent. Samples were then centrifuged at max speed to separate any insoluble materials and 10-50 $\mu$ L of supernatant was placed in a black 384 well plate in 10 $\mu$ L intervals for two columns; in wells containing less than  $50\mu$ L of sample, the TAG buffer filled the wells to reach  $50\mu$ L. To measure glycerol background,  $2\mu$ L of TAG buffer only was added to one column of samples; whereas, 2µL of lipase was added to the other column and the standard column. The plate was incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes to convert TAG to glycerol and fatty acids. After incubation,  $50\mu$ L of the reaction mix, containing a buffer, enzyme mix and a glycerol probe, were placed in wells, covered, and incubated at room temperature for 40 minutes. The prepared plate was analyzed in a fluorometric plate reader (Spectramax Gemini XPS) at excitation/emission phase of 535/590nm. Standard curve and dilutions were analyzed in Microsoft Excel, with the glycerol backgrounds subtracted for the samples, and were adjusted by weight. TAG concentrations were averaged in each group and expressed as µg TAG/animal.

29

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Acute mortality was compared across treatments using the Chi-square test. The survival rate and maturation time was compared across treatments using the Kaplan-Meir distribution. Differences in survival across treatments were determined using the Wilcoxon rank sum test. All missing samples and accidental deaths were censored from the lifespan analysis. Moreover, Fe concentrations, reproductive parameters (total reproduction/reproduction and average brood size), image analysis of lipid/body percentage, and TAG concentrations are compared across treatments using one-way ANOVA. A multivariate linear regression model was used to estimate the modifying effects of diet, total body area, amount of *Daphnia* in jars (Jars N), exposure to MeHg and exposure to MeOH (independent variables) on lipid storage (dependent variable). Analyses were conducted in JMP 10 and SAS 9.3. If there was no significant difference between the vehicle control and no exposure control group in each respective diet, the two groups were combined. All statistics were deemed statistically significant when  $P \leq 0.05$ .

# RESULTS

# Iron Quantification

Algae (A. falcatus)

A reduced Fe diet for *Daphnia* was produced by culturing *A. falcatus* in standard (3.15mg FeCl<sub>3</sub>/L) and low Fe media (1.57mg FeCl<sub>3</sub>/L). After harvesting, the Fe content of *A. falcatus* grown in standard or reduced Fe media was measured. The mean Fe concentration of *A. falcatus* grown in the standard Fe growth media contains more than 5-fold the amount measured in media containing low Fe media (Table 2.). The mean Fe concentration in Full Fe is significantly higher than the algae grown in half Fe media (t= 0.0480). As a result, it is appropriate to label *A. falcatus* grown in low Fe media as "Low Fe" to feed *D. pulex*.



Figure 3. Comparison of Fe Concentration in *A. falcatus* Grown in Standard and Low Fe Media. Error bars represent SEM.

Diet	N=	Mean ± SEM		
		(mg /100,000 cells)		
Low Fe	4	$7.65 \pm 2.104$		
Standard Fe	4	45.69 ± 11.971		

Table 2. Data Summary for Fe concentration in A. falcatus

# D. pulex

After the *Daphnia* were fed a standard or low Fe diet, the Fe concentration of the *Daphnia* was measured; the summary of the total Fe levels in *D. pulex* are shown in Table 3. Fe levels of *D. pulex* on the low-Fe diet was significantly lower compared to those who are fed a standard Fe diet (means =  $8.40 \ \mu g \ vs. 21.95 \ \mu g/D. pulex; t = 0.0154$ ) which suggests that the Fe content in *Daphnia* decreases when fed algae that was grown in media with reduced Fe. From this, we have established a low Fe model in *D. pulex*, induced by a low Fe dietary intake in the animals.



Figure 4. Fe Concentrations of *D. pulex* Fed Standard and Low Fe Diets. Error bars represent SEM

ary of re Concentration in D. pulex					
	Diet		Mean ± SEM		
			(µg /D. <i>pulex</i> )		
	Low Fe	4	$8.40 \pm 1.29$		
	Standard Fe	4	$21.95{\pm}~3.83$		

Table 3. Summary of Fe Concentration in D. pulex

#### Lifespan and Reproduction

# Lifespan

*Daphnia* were exposed to MeHg to observe any alterations in lifespan of standard and low Fe diets. Prior to and after the 24hr exposure, *Daphnia* were counted to examine any differences in acute mortality, summarized in Table 4. All *Daphnia* on the standard Fe diet survived the 24-hr exposure while more than 83% survived from those in the low Fe diet group. Overall, there was a significant difference in the acute mortality effect among the treatment groups (Pearson's Chi square = 21.572; p <.0001). Particularly, there was a significant effect between the two diets with the paired exposure (MeHg: Pearson's Chi square = 11.083; p = 0.0009; Vehicle: Pearson's Chi square = 10.351; p = 0.0013); however, the mortality of the vehicle exposed and MeHg exposed *D. pulex* on the same diet were not significantly different (Low Fe: Pearson's Chi square = 0.063; p = 0.8025). As a result, it is suggested that low Fe, but not MeHg exposure, increases the acute mortality of *D. pulex* in either the vehicle or MeHg 24 hour exposure compared to the standard Fe group.

au	one 4. Acute Mortanty after Merry and Venere Exposure						
	Diet	Treatment	N before	N after	% Survived		
		(Dose ng MeHg/L)	exposure	exposure			
	Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	60	50	83.33		
	Low Fe	Vehicle (0)	60	51	85.00		
	Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	64	64	100.00		
	Standard Fe	Vehicle (0)	61	61	100.00		

Table 4. Acute Mortality after MeHg and Vehicle Exposure

From the surviving exposed and not exposed *Daphnia* offspring, 20 samples were haphazardly selected in each group to evaluate differences in lifespan and reproduction. The lifespan data, classified by diet and treatment groups, is shown on Table 5. Since there was no significant difference in lifespan between vehicle and no exposure controls in their paired diets (Standard Fe: Wilcoxon= 0.4865, shown in Figure 5A.; Low Fe: Wilcoxon= 0.7508, Figure 5B.), the two groups were combined as a control to compare with MeHg exposures, summarized in Table 6. With combined controls, D. pulex that were fed a low-Fe diet did not have a significant difference in lifespan compared to the standard Fe diet (Wilcoxon= 0.2953, Figure 6A.). Moreover, a significant impact on lifespan was not observed in *Daphnia* that were exposed to MeHg at a concentration of 1600ng/L compared to its paired dietary controls (Standard Fe: Wilcoxon= 0.9374, Figure 6B; Low Fe: Wilcoxon= 0.8411, Figure 6C.), but we did note there was a slight increase in lifespan when exposed to MeHg. Moreover, there was no significant affect on D. pulex in low-Fe diets and MeHg exposure when compared to the standard Fe control, shown in Figure 6D. (Wilcoxon = 0.3307). Also, there was no significant effect on lifespan when comparing MeHg exposed in standard Fe versus low Fe diets (Wilcoxon = 0.4757, Figure 6E.). These data suggests that neither MeHg exposure nor standard or low-Fe diets affects lifespan in D. pulex.

Diet	Treatment	N=	Number	Median	Mean ± SEM
	(Dose ng MeHg/L)		Censored	(Days)	(Days)
Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	20	0	48	$44.70 \pm 2.64$
Low Fe	No Exposure (0)	20	0	44	$35.40 \pm 5.11$
Low Fe	Vehicle (0)	19	1	41	$31.42 \pm 4.71$
Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	19	1	49	$45.74 \pm 3.56$
Standard Fe	No Exposure (0)	20	0	46	$41.90 \pm 4.83$
Standard Fe	Vehicle (0)	18	2	41	$36.67 \pm 5.51$
Combined		116	4	45	$\textbf{39.29} \pm \textbf{1.85}$

Table 5. Summary for Lifespan of D. pulex by Diet and MeHg Exposure



Figure 5. Survival Curves for Comparing Vehicle and No Exposure Controls for (A) Standard Fe and (B) Low Fe.

Table 6. Data Summar	y of Lifespan	of D. pulex b	y Diet and Dose (	(Controls Combined)
----------------------	---------------	---------------	-------------------	---------------------

Diet	Treatment	N=	Number	Median	Mean ± SEM
	(Dose ng MeHg/L)		Censored	(Days)	(Days)
Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	20	0	48	$44.70 \pm 2.64$
Low Fe	Control (0)	39	1	42	$33.42 \pm 3.46$
Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	19	1	49	$45.74 \pm 3.56$
Standard Fe	Control (0)	38	2	45	$39.32 \pm 3.62$
Combined		116	4	45	$39.29 \pm 1.85$



Figure 6. Survival Curve Comparisons for (A) Standard vs. Low Fe controls, (B) Standard Fe control vs. Standard Fe MeHg, (C) Low Fe Control vs. Low Fe MeHg, (D) Standard Fe Control vs. Low Fe MeHg (E) MeHg exposure in Standard Fe and Low Fe

# Time to First Reproduction

Summary statistics, including mean and median time to first reproduction, are listed on Table 7. A total of 93 samples reached reproductive age and were able to be analyzed. All surviving *Daphnia* were able to reproduce within 8-14 days. In both standard and low-Fe diets, the vehicle control group were significantly different compared to the no exposure control group (Standard Fe: Wilcoxon = 0.0056; Low Fe: Wilcoxon <0.0001); thus, control groups were not combined for this analysis. Also, Wilcoxon test results among treatment groups for maturity time are listed on Table 8. The no exposure controls were not significantly different in standard or low Fe diet. Also, compared to the no exposure groups in standard and low Fe diets, those that were exposed to MeHg or vehicle significantly delayed the time to first reproduction; however, MeHg and vehicle control were not significantly different from each other when compared in standard and/or low Fe diets.

Diet	Treatment N=		Median	Mean ± SEM
	(Dose ng/L)		(Days)	(Days)
Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	19	13	$12.58\pm0.246$
Low Fe	No Exposure (0)	15	10	$10.00\pm0.338$
Low Fe	Vehicle (0)	12	13	$12.50\pm0.261$
Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	19	13	$12.58\pm0.289$
Standard Fe	No Exposure (0)	16	10	$10.88\pm0.446$
Standard Fe	Vehicle (0)	12	13	$12.67\pm0.333$
Combined		93	13	$\textbf{11.87} \pm \textbf{0.169}$

Table 7. Summary for Time to First Reproduction

Table 8. Wilcoxon Test for Time to First Reproduction in *D. pulex* 

Diet		Stand	lard Fe	Low Fe		
	Dose	Vehicle	1600ng/L	No Exposure	Vehicle	1600ng/L
Standard	No Exposure	0.0056*	0.0014*	0.1966	0.0083*	0.0014*
Fe	Vehicle 1600ng/L		0.8148	<0.0001* <0.0001*	0.7436 0.9425	0.8434 0.9453
Low	No Exposure				<0.0001*	<0.0001*
Fe	Vehicle					0.8779

\* indicates significant differences



Figure 7. Time to First Reproduction Curves in Standard Fe Diet between (A) No exposure and Vehicle Controls; (B) No exposure control and MeHg; and (C) Vehicle Control and MeHg



Figure 8. Time to First Reproduction Curves for Low Fe Diet between (A) No exposure and Vehicle Controls; (B) No exposure control and MeHg; and (C) Vehicle Control and MeHg



Figure 9. Low Fe vs. Standard Fe Time to First Reproduction between Exposure Groups

## Average Brood Size

Out of 120, 93 Daphnia reproduced. One outlier reproduced only one clutch and was excluded; thus, a total of 92 Daphnia were used in this analysis. Since there was no significant difference between the vehicle and no exposure controls in both diets (Standard Fe: Tukey's = 0.9942; Low Fe: Tukey's = 1.000), the two treatment groups were combined for further analysis. The average brood size means for each treatment, including the combined controls, were approximately 5 offspring per clutch (Table 9). The average brood sizes were not statistically different between control Daphnia that were fed a low Fe diet compared to the standard diet (Tukey's = 0.4136). Furthermore, there was no difference between MeHg exposures and controls in its respective diets (Standard Fe: Tukey's = 0.1678; Low Fe: Tukey's = 0.9997). Also, no difference was seen between the low Fe MeHg treatment group when compared to the standard Fe controls (Tukey's = 0.4407). When comparing average brood size of MeHg exposed *Daphnia* between the two diets, there was no significant difference (Tukey's =0.9455). From this, one can conclude that neither diet nor MeHg exposure changes the average brood size in *D. pulex*.

Diet	Treatment	N=	Mean ± SEM
	(Dose ng/L)		
Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	19	$5.32\pm0.225$
Low Fe	Control (0)	27	$5.29\pm0.188$
Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	18	$5.50\pm0.231$
Standard Fe	Control (0)	28	$4.88\pm0.185$
Combined		92	

Table 9 Summary Data of Average Brood Size by Diet and Exposure



Figure 10. Average Brood Size among Diets and MeHg Exposure. Error bars represent SEM

# Reproduction Rate

From the 93 reproducing *Daphnia*, the same one clutch outlier was excluded, leaving a total of 92 for analysis. Since the vehicle and no exposure controls did not significantly differ in each diet (Standard Fe: Tukey's = 0.9889; Low Fe: Tukey's = 0.9991), the control groups were combined for further analysis. With the combined controls, the mean reproduction rate for each treatment group ranges between 1-2 *Daphnia* each day (Table 10.). There was no significant difference between low and standard Fe controls (Tukey's = 0.9985). Also, there was no significant difference in MeHg exposures when compared to its diet paired controls (Standard Fe: Tukey's = 0.8593; Low Fe: Tukey's = 0.9602). Also, there was no significant effect in reproduction rate between the standard Fe controls and MeHg in the low Fe diet group (Tukey's = 0.9179). When *D. pulex* are exposed to MeHg, there was no significant difference between the different diets (Tukey's = 0.5622). Overall, the results suggest that reproduction rate in *D. pulex* is not affected of by differing diets or early-life MeHg exposure.

Diet	Treatment	N=	Mean ± SEM
	(Dose ng/L)		(offspring/day)
Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	19	$1.57\pm0.102$
Low Fe	Control (0)	27	$1.63\pm0.085$
Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	18	$1.76\pm0.104$
Standard Fe	Control (0)	28	$1.65\pm0.084$
Combined		92	

Table 10. Summary Statistics of Reproduction Rate



Diet and Exposure

Figure 11. Reproduction Rate among Diets and MeHg Exposure. Error bars represent SEM

# Lipid Reserves

# Image analysis

A total of 149 images of individual *Daphnia* were analyzed using ImageJ; however, 8 were excluded from statistical analysis due to organisms being crushed during microscopy or the image was out of focus. Thus, this leaves a total of 141 images for statistical analysis, summarized in Table 11.

Diet	Treatment	N=	Range	Mean ± SEM
	(Dose ng/L)		(% Lipid)	(% Lipid)
Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	12	(1.47, 8.09)	$4.56\pm0.620$
Low Fe	No Exposure (0)	26	(0.037, 5.75)	$1.87\pm0.283$
Low Fe	Vehicle (0)	21	(0.001, 3.36)	$0.978\pm0.216$
Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	20	(1.52, 6.21)	$4.02\pm0.322$
Standard Fe	No Exposure (0)	42	(0.098, 7.81)	$2.89 \pm 0.325$
Standard Fe	Vehicle (0)	20	(0.029, 5.88)	$2.21\pm0.349$

Table 11. Data Summary for %Lipid based on Oil Red O staining



Figure 12. Box plot of %Lipid among Diets and Exposure. Error bars represent the maximum and minimum values. Boxes represent the 25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles.

The low Fe no exposure group had the lowest mean % lipid (0.978% lipid) while *Daphnia* fed the low Fe diet and exposed to MeHg early in life had the highest mean lipid percentage (4.56% lipid). There is a notable trend between the different exposures, with lipid percentages increased in MeHg exposed compared to controls in each diet. Since increased body size is associated with a heightened % lipids in *Daphnia* illustrated in Figure 13., we decided to use a multivariate linear regression analyses, using the covariates: total body area, amount of *Daphnia* in jars (Jars N), diet, exposed to MeHg, and exposed to MeOH; the model also included the interaction between diet and MeOH

or MeHg. Since the MeHg was dissolved in the vehicle (MeOH), *Daphnia* that was exposed to MeHg was also categorized under the MeOH variable. The model, summarized in Table 12, suggests that MeOH, and the interaction between diet and MeHg showed a significant effect on the lipid/body percentage in *D. pulex*; thus, implying that *D. pulex* that were exposed to MeOH, MeHg or were fed a standard Fe diet, had a higher lipid/body percentage compared to those that did not receive the stated treatments. Also, the model demonstrates that when *Daphnia* were fed a low Fe diet but did not receive MeHg treatment, there was a significant decrease in % lipids.



Figure 13. Relationship between %Lipid and Total Body Area by Diet and Exposure

Covariate	DF	Estimate	SS	F Ratio	Prob>F
Diet (Low Fe)	1	-0.0506	0.1758	0.0916	0.7627
MeOH (No MeOH)	1	-0.8809	53.773	28.004	<.0001*
MeHg (No MeHg)	1	-0.3224	3.266	1.701	0.1944
Jars N	1	0.0018	0.0538	0.0280	0.8674
Total Body Area	1	4.7840	99.922	52.038	<.0001*
Diet*MeHg (Low Fe * No MeHg)	1	-0.3840	12.032	6.266	0.0135*
Diet*MeOH (Low Fe * No MeOH)	1	0.1825	3.135	1.633	0.2036

Table 12. Model for % Lipids and its covariates

## TAG assay

Results from the image analysis imply Daphnia that were exposed to MeHg and fed a standard Fe diet increase lipids compared to the controls. To verify this finding, TAG content was measured via chemical analysis. A total of 15 pooled *Daphnia* samples were included in the analysis. Means of TAG concentration are listed on Table 13. Compared to the image analysis results, the mean TAG concentration showed a similar increase of lipids when Daphnia were exposed to MeHg. The sample sizes are small and vary between treatments; therefore, the generalized linear model is used for this analysis. Since the TAG concentrations in no exposure and vehicle controls of each corresponding diets are not significantly different (Standard Fe: Tukey's= 0.2896, Low Fe: Tukey's= 0.6597), the two groups are combined for further analysis to test the effects of TAG content in MeHg exposed groups. With the combined controls, there was no significant difference between MeHg exposure and controls in their respective diets (Tukey's = 0.6811 and 0.9703 for Standard and Low Fe diets, respectively). In addition, MeHg exposed *Daphnia* of a low Fe diet were not significantly different when compared to the standard Fe controls (Tukey's = 0.7684). Also, standard and low-Fe diets did not

significantly alter the TAG content when exposed to either MeHg (Tukey's = 1.000) or not (Tukey's = 0.9175).

Diet	Treatment	N=	Mean ± SE	
	(Dose ng/L)		(µg TAG/ animal)	
Low Fe	MeHg (1600)	2	$9.92\pm3.236$	
Low Fe	Control (0)	4	$8.18\pm2.288$	
Standard Fe	MeHg (1600)	3	$9.94 \pm 2.642$	
Standard Fe	Control (0)	6	$6.29 \pm 1.868$	
Combined		13		

Table 13. Data Summary of Triacylglycerol (TAG) Assay



Figure 14. TAG Assay Comparison in Diet and Exposure. Error bars represent SEM.

### DISCUSSION

This is the first study that uses *Daphnia* to investigate the interaction between low-level, early-life MeHg exposure and a low-Fe diet. In addition, this study is the first to demonstrate the use of ORO followed by image analysis to stain and quantify storage lipids in *Daphnia*. The purpose of this study was to determine if there is a difference in MeHg toxicity when *Daphnia* were fed a low-Fe diet compared to a standard-Fe diet. From previous studies, we hypothesized that early-life, low-level exposure to MeHg would shorten *Daphnia*'s lifespan and adversely affect its reproduction, as well as decrease its lipid storage; we also believed *Daphnia* on a low-Fe diet would exacerbate the toxicity of MeHg on the basis of a shorter lifespan and reduced reproduction. However, the data from this study did not support our hypotheses. In this current study, we have shown that Fe concentrations were lowered in A. falcatus when cultured in low Fe growth media compared to standard Fe growth media. Also, Fe levels in D. pulex were reduced when consuming a low-Fe diet. Most importantly, this study did not show any adverse effects to early-life MeHg exposure in terms of lifespan, average brood size, and reproduction rate in *D. pulex*. However, a delay in the start of reproduction is evident when exposed to MeHg or the vehicle in either standard or low Fe diets, suggesting there was a significant stress caused by the additional handling in the exposure paradigm. Also, from the lipid staining analysis, an early-life exposure to MeHg under a low Fe diet increases lipid storage in *D. pulex* while a low Fe diet alone accounts for an insignificant

47

decrease in lipid storage. Quantification of TAG via chemical assays did not show any significant differences in *Daphnia* that were either fed a low-Fe diet or were exposed to MeHg.

### Iron Deficiency

Fe is essential for *Daphnia* in hemoglobin synthesis and reproduction (Engle 1985; Smaridge 1956; Dave 1984). However, based on the present study, there are no significant differences in lifespan or reproduction in *D. pulex* fed a low-Fe diet. The current study's low Fe effects on lifespan are not consistent with past studies indicating that ID or low Fe levels increase the risk of mortality in humans and rodent models (Gambling et al. 2003; Kilp et al. 2013; Dave 1984), but is consistent with another study (Tielsch et al. 2006) indicating Fe has no significant effect on childhood mortality. Concerning reproduction, data from the present study is consistent with past studies that have observed no significant effects (Gambling et al. 2002; Gambling 2003).

Using an enzymatic assay to measure TAG in *Daphnia* suggested there was no significant difference in lipid content between the differing diets. This finding was not consistent with past studies, indicating that ID increases lipid content (Nandyala et al. 2013; Stangl & Kirchgessner 1998; Davis et al. 2012). However, the mean lipid concentration, listed on Table 13, between the controls of both low and standard Fe groups imply there may be an increase of lipids in *Daphnia* fed a low-Fe diet, but did not reach statistical significance due to high variation in different runs of the assay and small sample size. Therefore, additional assays for TAG concentrations with a larger sample size may be necessary. Interestingly, from ORO staining followed by image analysis,

48

low-Fe diet in *D. pulex* was not a sole factor for the alteration in lipid content, but the interaction between diet and exposure to MeHg was responsible for the increase of lipids.

To our knowledge, this is the first study that investigated the effects of low-Fe diets in *D. pulex*. Past *Daphnia* studies addressed the effects of various Fe concentrations in media (Dave 1984; Bošnir et al. 2013), but neither addressed outcomes relating to Fe in the diet. Accounting for dietary Fe may clarify the reason for variability in toxic concentrations of Fe in the media.

#### Methylmercury

The experimental concentration of MeHg is higher than most recorded concentrations in surface water bodies (> 5ng/L) (ASTDR 1999); for example, a study that measured Canadian surface water levels reported between 0.02 and 4 ng/L while a study in California wetlands reported MeHg between 0.1 and 37 ng/L (Hall, Baron, & Somers 2009; Alpers et al. 2013). In addition, the experimental MeHg concentration is higher compared to the EC<sub>50</sub> that may affect *D. pulex*'s reproduction from chronic exposure (30 days) to MeHg (707 ng MeHg/L); however, it is lower than the LC<sub>50</sub> of the Daphnia for 24-hr exposure (31205 ng MeHg/L) as well as for the 48-hour period (5700 ng MeHg/L) (Tiang-yi & McNaught 1992). At low levels, MeHg did not affect the lifespan in *D. pulex*, similar to past studies in *C. elegans* and other organisms (Helmcke et al. 2009; Schroeder & Mitchener 1974; Hammerschmidt et al. 2002). Furthermore, there was no significant difference in reproduction, unlike previous studies that suggested that exposure to MeHg adversely affected reproduction (Albers et al. 2007; VanDuyn et al. 2010). Interestingly, a significant delay in time to first reproduction was not observed in *D. pulex*; contrasting to the delayed spawning that was observed in MeHg exposed fathead minnows (Hammerschmidt 2002).

TAG levels were slightly, but not significantly increased in *Daphnia* exposed to MeHg. This finding is in contrast to past studies that suggested MeHg reduced TAG concentrations in rodents (Kawakami 2011; Sood et al. 1997; Shirai et al. 2007). Results from the ORO staining and analysis suggests that exposure to MeHg increases lipid storage, which is not consistent to past studies in Northern Pike and mice (Drevnick et al. 2008; Kawakami et al. 2011).

## TAG Assay

The quantification of triacylglycerol (TAG) using an enzymatic assay kit did not show a correlation to the ORO image analysis in terms of % lipid content (data not shown). This finding differed from past studies, stating that lipids stained with ORO did correspond to the amount of lipids quantified with biochemical assays (Ramírez-Zacarías, Castro-Muñozledo, & Kuri-Harcuch 1992; Ge et al. 2010). Based on the present analysis, using commercial kits for quantifying lipids in *D. pulex* is not optimal for the following reasons: 1.) Due to pooled samples, body size was not accounted for in the TAG assay; this study has shown that % lipid is correlated with the body size of *D. pulex*, which is synonymous with Tessier and Goulden's (1982) observation of lipids in *Daphnia*. 2.) Individual *Daphnia* age varied within 2 days; thus, *Daphnia* were at varying life stages and sizes, which could impact the lipid concentration in *Daphnia*; and 3.) high glycerol content was observed in the wells.

#### Limitations

There are several limitations in this study. For this experiment, *Daphnia* underwent an acute (24hr) exposure to MeHg to investigate any adverse long-term effects; however, chronic exposure to MeHg would be more consistent with humans as well as other studies. A previous study estimated that half of the *Daphnia* population reduces reproduction when chronically exposed to 707 ng/L of MeHg for 30 days (Tian-yi & McNaught 1992). In this study, there were no differences in the reproduction rate when *Daphnia* were subjected to an acute 24 hr. exposure to a higher concentration of 1600 ng/L MeHgCl.

Due to the presence of selenium in the media in which is necessary for *D. pulex* growth during the 24 hr MeHg exposure, the effects of MeHg may have been countered during the exposure period (Goyer 1997). The protective effects of selenium against MeHg have also been shown in previous studies (Bjerregaard & Christensen 2012). Also, since the animals were checked every other day in the present study, the maturation time could be further characterized using a shorter time between observations in future studies.

During ORO staining, the fusion of adjacent lipid droplets may occur with the presence of alcoholic solvents during the staining process or fixing the samples; thus making the individual lipid droplets appear larger, although total percent lipid should not be affected (Mehlem et al. 2013). Also, conducting the image analysis of lipids with software is time-consuming, especially with larger data sets; thus, optimizing time-saving methods for ORO in *D. pulex* is recommended.

Another limitation to this study is that the lipid content of the organism may also differ since *Daphnia* is affected by its food quality (Ahlgren et al. 1990) and not solely

51

due to ID. Furthermore, the lipid content of the algae may differ, with algae grown in Fedepleted environments, although we would expect this to cause a slight increase in TAG content (Fan et al. 2014).

## Future Work

Additional research on the outcomes of various dietary Fe concentrations in *Daphnia* needs to be investigated. Also, more studies could be conducted to find the relationship between early-life MeHg exposure and low Fe in *Daphnia* without selenium during exposure or throughout lifespan. A standardization of carbon and lipid content in the diet would be ideal. Future work would also include optimizing lipid quantification in *D. pulex*. Various methods of lipid quantification in *D. pulex* include adipose conversion through the extraction of ORO from stained lipids to spectrophotometrically quantify the presence of fat, along with use of a standard curve (Ramírez-Zacarías, Castro-Muñozledo, & Kuri-Harcuch 1992), as well as the use of the micromethod to quantify small aquatic invertebrate samples, described by Gardner et al. (1985).

## REFERENCES

- Ahlgren, G., Lundstedt, L., Brett, M., and Forsberg, C. (1990). Lipid composition and food quality of some freshwater phytoplankton for cladoceran zooplankters. *Journal of Plankton Research*. 12(4): 809-818
- Al-Biltagi, M., Tolba, O., Elshanshory, M., Badraia, I., and Hazaa, S.M. (2013). Atrial function and glutathione in children with iron deficiency anemia- tanta egypt 2012. *International Blood Research & Reviews* 1(2): 72-86.
- Al-Damluji, S. F., and Clinical Committee on Mercury Poisoning. (1976). Intoxication due to alkylmercury-treated seed-1971-72 outbreak in Iraq: Clinical aspects. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 53(Suppl), 65.
- Albers, P.H.. Koterba, M.T., Rossman, R., Link, W.A., French, J.B., Bennet, R.S., and Bauer, W.C. (2007). Effects of methylmercury on reproduction in american kestrels. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 26 (9): 1856-1866.
- Arts, M.T., Evans, M.S., and Robarts, R.D. (1992). Seasonal patterns of total and energy reserve lipids of dominant zooplanktonic crustaceans from a hyper-eutrophic lake. *Oecologica*.90: 560-571.
- Arzate-Cárdenas, M.A., Martínez-Jerónimo, F. (2012). Energy reserve modification in different age groups of *Daphnia schoedleri* (Anomopoda: Daphniidae) exposed to hexavalent chromium. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*. 34: 106-116.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. (1999). Public health statement: mercury. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service.
- Bakir, F., Damluji, S.F., Amin-Zaki, L., Murtadha, M., Khalidi, A., Al-Rawi, N.Y., Tikriti, S., Dhahir, H.I., Clarkson, T.W., Smith, J.C., Doherty, R.A. (1973). Methylmercury poisoning in iraq. *Science*. 181(4096): 230-241
- Bánhidy, F., Ács, N., Puhó, E.H., and Czeizel, A. E. (2011). Iron deficiency anemia: Pregnancy outcomes with or without iron supplementation. *Nutrition*. 27: 65-72.

- Berglund, M., Akesson, A., Nermell, B., and Vahter, M. (1994). Intestinal absorption of dietary cadmium in women depends on body iron stores and fiber intake. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 102: 1058-1066.
- Beyrouty, P., and Chan, H.M. (2006). Co-consumption of selenium and vitamin E altered the reproductive and developmental toxicity of methylmercury in rats. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*. 28: 49-58.
- Bjerregaard, P., and Christensen, A. (2012). Selenium reduces the retention of methylmercury in the brown shrimp crangon crangon. *Environmental Science & Technology*. 46: 6324-6329.
- Bose, R., Onishchenko, N., Edoff, K., Lang, A.M.J., and Ceccatelli, S. (2012). Inherited effects of low-dose exposure to methylmercury in neural stem cells. Toxicological Sciences. 130(2): 383-390.
- Bošnir, J., Puntarić, D., Cvetković, Ž., Pollak, L., Barušić, L., Klarić, I., Miškulin, M., Puntarić, I. Puntarić, E., Milošević, M. (2013). Effects of magnesium, chromium, iron and zinc from food supplements on selected aquatic organisms. *Collegium Antropologicum*. 37(3): 965-971.
- Brabin, L., Brabin, B.J., and Gies, S. (2013). Influence of iron status on risk of maternal or neonatal infection and on neonatal mortality with an emphasis on developing countries. *Nutrition Reviews*. 71(8): 528-540.
- Bhutta, Z.A., Rizvi, A., Raza, F., Hotwani, S., Zaidi, S., Hossain, S.M., Soofi, S., Bhutta, S. (2009). A comparative evaluation of multiple micronutrient and iron-folic acid supplementation during pregnancy in Pakistan: Impact on pregnancy outcomes. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*. 30(4): 496-505
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2002). Iron deficiency-united states 1999-2000. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*. 51(40): 897-899.
- Chandra, S. V., and Shukla, G. S. (1976). Role of iron deficiency in inducing susceptibility to manganese toxicity. *Archives of toxicology*. 35(4): 319-323.
- Chapman, L., and Chan, H.M. (2000). The influence of nutrition on methylmercury intoxication. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 108(1): 29-56.
- Chung, J., Kim, M.S., and Han, S.N. (2011). Diet-induced obesity leads to decreased hepatic iron storage in mice. *Nutrition Research Journal*. 31 (102):915-921.
- Clarkson, T.W., Magos, L., and Myers, G.J. (2003). The toxicology of mercury—current exposures and clinical manifestations. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. 349: 1731-1737.

- Clarkson, T.W. and Strain, J.J. (2003). Nutritional factors may modify the toxic action of methyl mercury in fish-eating populations. *Journal of Nutrition*. 133: 1539S-1543S.
- Dallman, P.R. (1986). Biochemical basis for the manifestations of iron deficiency. *Annual Review of Nutrition*. 6: 13-40.
- Dave, G. (1984). Effects of waterborne iron on growth, reproduction, survival and haemoglobin in Daphnia magna. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Comparative Pharmacology*. 78(2): 433-438.
- Davidson, P.W., Myers, G.J., Cox, C., Axtell, C., Shamlaye, C., Sloane-Reeves, J., Cernichiari, E., Needham, L., Choi, A., Wang, Y., Berlin, M., and Clarkson, T.W. (1998). Effects of prenatal and postnatal methylmercury exposure from fish consumption on neurodevelopment: outcomes at 66 months of age in the seychelles child development study. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*. 280(8): 701-707/
- Davis, M.R., Hester, K.K., Shawron, K.M., Lucas, E.A., Smith, B.J., and Clarke, S.L. (2012). Comparisons of the iron deficient metabolic response in rats fed either an AIN-76 or AIN-93 based diet. *Nutrition & Metabolism*. 9(1): 95. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-9-95.
- Debes, F., Budtz-Jørgensen, Weihe, P., White, R.F., and Grandjean, P. (2006). Impact of prenatal methylmercury exposure on neurobehavioral function at age 14 years. *Neurotoxicological Taratology*. 28(3): 363-375.
- DeCoen, W.M., and Janssen, C.R. (2002). The missing biomarker link: relationships between effects on the cellular energy allocation biomarker of toxicant-stressed daphnia magna and corresponding population characteristics. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 22(7): 1632-1641.
- Deutsch, M.J., Schriever. S.C., Roscher, A.A., and Ensenauer, R. (2014). Digital image analysis approach of lipid droplet size quantitation of oil-red-o stained cultured cells. Analytical Biochemistry. 445: 87-89.
- Drevnick, P.E., Roberts, A.P., Otter, R.R., Hammerschmidt, C.R., Klaper, R., and Oris, J.T. (2008). Mercury toxicity in livers of northern pike (esox lucius) from isle royale, usa. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C.* 147: 331-338.
- Engle, D. (1985). The production of haemoglobin by small pond Daphnia pulex: intraspecific variation and its relation to habitat. *Freshwater Biology*. 15: 631-638.

- Erikson, K.M., Syversen, T., Aschner, J.L., and Aschner, M. (2005). Interactions between excessive manganese exposures and dietary iron-deficiency in neurodegeneration. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*. 19: 415-421.
- Eto, K. (1997). Pathology of minamata disease. Toxicologic Pathology. 25(6): 614-623.
- Fan, J., Cui, Y., Wan, M., Wang., W., and Li, Y. (2014). Lipid accumulation and biosynthesis genes response of the oleaginous chlorella pyrenoidosa under three nutrition stressors. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*. 7:7-17. doi: 10.1186/1754-6834-7-17.
- Filho, T.U.B., Soares, A.M.V.M., and Loureiro, S. (2011) Energy budget in Daphnia magna exposed to natural stressors. *Environmental Science of Pollution Research*. 18: 655-662.
- Fischer, D.S., and Price, D.C. (1964). A simple serum iron method using the new sensitive chromogen tripyridyl-s-triazine. *Clinical Chemistry*. 10(1): 21-31
- Fonesca, M. F., Hacon, S.S., Grandjean, P., and Choi, A. L. (2014). Iron status as a covariate in methylmercury-associated neurotoxicity risk. *Chemosphere*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.12.053.
- Friedman,A.J., Chen, Z., Ford, P., Johnson, C.A., Lopez, A.M., Shander, A., Waters, J.H., and van Wyck, D. (2012). Iron deficiency anemia in women across the life span. *Journal of Women's Health*. 21(12):1282-1289.
- Gambling, L., Charania, Z., Hannah, L., Antipatis, C., Lea, R.G., and McArdle, H.J. (2002). Effect of iron deficiency on placental cytokine expression and fetal growth in the pregnant rat. *Biology of Reproduction*. 66: 516-523.
- Gambling, L., Dunford, S., Wallace, D.I., Zuur, G., Solanky, N., Srai, S.K.S., and McArdle, H.J. (2003). Iron deficiency during pregnancy affects postnantal blood pressure in the rat. The Journal of Physiology. 552(2): 603-610.
- García-Casal, M.N., Pereirea, A.C., Leets, I., Ramírez, J., and Quiroga, M.F. (2007). High iron content and bioavailability in humans from four species of marine algae. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 137: 2691-2695.
- Gardner, W. S., Frez, W. A., and Cichocki, E. A. (1985). Micromethod for lipids in aquatic invertebrates. *Limnology and Oceanography*. 30(5): 1099-1105.
- Ge, F., Lobdell, H., Zhou, S., Hu, C., and Berk, P.D. (2010). Digital analysis of hepatic sections in mice accurately quantitates triglycerides and selected properties of lipid droplets. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*. 235(11): 1282-1286.

- Gochfeld, M. (2003). Cases of mercury exposure, bioavailability, and absorption. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 56: 174-179.
- Goulden, C.E., and Hornig, L.L. (1979). Population oscillations and energy reserves in plantonic cladocera and their consequences to competition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 3: 1716-1720.
- Goulden, C.E., and Place, A.R. (1990). Fatty acid synthesis and accumulation rates in daphniids. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*. 256(2): 168-178.
- Goyer, R. A. (1997). Toxic and essential metal interactions. *Annual Review of Nurtrition*. 17:37-50
- Grandjean, P., Weihe, P., White, R. F., Debes, F., Araki, S., Yokoyama, K., Murata, K., Sørensen, N., Dahl, R. and Jørgensen, P. J. (1997). Cognitive deficit in 7-year-old children with prenatal exposure to methylmercury. *Neurotoxicology and teratology.*, 19(6): 417-428.
- Guo, B. Q., Yan, C. H., Cai, S. Z., Yuan, X. B., and Shen, X. M. (2013). Low level prenatal exposure to methylmercury disrupts neuronal migration in the developing rat cerebral cortex. *Toxicology*. 304: 57-68.
- Haider, B.A., Olofin, I., Wang, M., Spiegelman, D., Ezzati, M., and Fawzi, W.W. (2013). Anaemia, prenatal iron use, and risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. 346.
- Hammerschmidt, C.R., Sandheinrich, M.B., Wiener, J.G., and Rada, R.G. (2002). Effects of dietary methylmercury on reproduction of fathead minnow. *Environmental Science & Technology*. 36. 877-883.
- Harada, M. (1978). Congenital minamata disease: intrauterine methylmercury poisoning. *Teratology*. 18(2): 285-288.
- Harada, Y., Miyamoto, Y., Nonaka, I., Ohta, S., and Ninomiya, T. (1968). Electroencephalographic studies of Minamata disease in children. *Developmental medicine and child neurology*. 10(2): 257.
- Heinz, G. H., Hoffman, D. J., Klimstra, J. D., and Stebbins, K. R. (2010). Enhanced reproduction in mallards fed a low level of methylmercury: an apparent case of hormesis. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 29 (3): 650-653
- Heilig, E. Ramon, M., Donaghey, T., Brian, J.D., and Wessling-Resnick, M. (2005).
  Pharmacokinetics of pulmonary manganese absorption: evidence for increased susceptibility to manganese loading in iron-deficient rats. *American Journal of Physiology- Lung Cellular and Molecula Physiology*. 288(5): L887-L893.

- Helmcke, K.J., Syversen, T., Miller, D.M., and Aschner, M. (2009). Characterization of the effects of methylmercury on Caenorhabitis elegans. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*. 240: 265-272.
- Hong, Y.S., Kim, Y.M., and Lee, K.E. (2012). Methylmercury exposure and health effects. *Journal of Preventive Medicine & Public Health*. 45: 353-363.
- Hsu, H.S., Li, C.I., Liu, C.S., Lin, C.C., Huang, K.C., Li, T.C., Huang, H.Y., Lin, W.Y. (2013). Iron deficiency is associated with increased risk for cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in the elderly living in long-term care facilities. *Nutrition*. 29: 737-743.
- Hurley, R.A., Hayman, L.A., and Taber, K.H. (2008). Mercury exposure: effects across the lifespan. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry Clinical Neuroscience*. 20(4): 384-389.
- Kainz, M., Lucotte, M., and Parrish, C.C. (2002). Methyl mercury in zooplankton—the role of size, habitat, and food quality. *Canadian Journal of Fish Aquatic Science*. 59: 1606-1615.
- Kalaivani, K. (2009). Prevalence and consequences of anaemia in pregnancy. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*. 130: 627-633.
- Kawakami, T., Hanao, N., Nishiyama, K., Kadota, Y., Inoue, M., Sato, M., and Suzuki, S. (2012). Differential effects of cobalt and mercury on lipid metabolism in the white adipose tissue of high-fat diet-induced obesity mice. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology*. 258(1): 32-42.
- Kenow, K.P., Hoffman, D.J., Hines, R.K., Meyer, M.W., Bickham, J.W., Matson, C.W., Stebbins, K.R., Montagna, P., and Elfessi, A. (2008). Effects of methylmercury exposure on glutathione metabolism, oxidative stress, and chromosomal damage in captive-reared common loon (*Gavia immer*) chicks. *Environmental Pollution*. 156(3): 732-738.
- Kilham, S.S., Kreeger, D.A., Goulden, C.E., and Lynn, S.G. (1997). Effects of algal food quality on fecundity and population growth rates of daphnia. *Freshwater Biology*. 38: 639-647.
- Kilham, S.S., Kreeger, D. A., Lynn, S.G., Goulden, C.E., and Herrera, L. (1998). Combo: a defined freshwater culture medium for algae and zooplankton. *Hydrobiologia*. **377**: 147-159
- Kjellström, T., Kennedy, P., Wallis, S., and Mantell, C. (1986). Physical and Mental Development of Children with Prenatal Exposure to Mercury from Fish. Stage 1: Preliminary Tests at Age 4. Report 3080. National Swedish Environmental Board, Solna

- Kjellström, T., Kennedy, P., Wallis, S., Stewart, A., Friberg, L., Lind, B., Wutherspoon, T., and Mantell, C. (1989). *Physical and Mental Development of Children with Prenatal Exposure to Mercury from Fish. Stage 2: Preliminary Tests at Age 6.* Report 3642. National Swedish Environmental Board, Solna
- Klip, I.T., Comin-Colet, J., Voors, A.A., Ponikowski, P., Enjuanes, C., Banasiak, W., Lok, D.J., Rosentryt, P., Torrens, A., Polonski, L., van Veldhuisen, D.J., van der Meer, P., Jankowska, E.A. (2013). Iron deficiency in chronic heart failure: an international pooled analysis. *American Heart Journal*. 165: 575-582.
- Kosakowska, A., Lewandowska, J., Stoń, J., and Burkiewicz, K. (2004). Qulitative and quantitative composition of pigments in phaeodactylum tricornutum (bacillariophyceae) stressed by iron. *BioMetals*. 17: 45-52
- Lampert, W. (1977). Studies on the carbon balance of Daphnia pulex De Geer as related to environmental conditions. II. The dependence of carbon assimilation on animal size, temperature, food concentration and diet species. *Arch. Hydrobiol. Suppl.* 48: 310-335.
- Lampert, W. (2006). Daphnia: model herbivore, predator, and prey. *Polish Journal of Ecology*. 54(4): 607-620.
- LeBlanc, C.P., Fiset, S., Surette, M.E., O'Brien, H.T. (2009). Maternal iron deficiency alters essential fatty acid and eicosanoid metabolism and increases locomotion in adult guinea pig offspring. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 139: 1653-1659.
- Lee, Y.H., Layman, D.K., and Bell, R. R. (1981). Glutathione peroxidase activity in irondeficient rats. *Journal of Nutrition*. 111: 194-200.
- Li, Y.Q., Cao, X.X., Bai, B., Zhang, J.N., and Wang, M.Q. (2014). Severe iron deficiency is associated with a reduced conception rate in female rats. *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation*. 77: 19-23
- Liu, J., Goyer, R.A., and Waalkes, M.P. (2008). Toxic effects of metals. *Casarett & Doull's Toxicology: The Basic Science of Poisons*. Edited by Curtis D. Klaassen. 7: 931-979.
- Marchetti, A., and Cassar, N. (2009). Diatom elemental and morphological changes in response to iron limitation: a brief review with potential paleoceanographic applications. *Geobiology*, 7: 419-431.
- Matta, M.B., Linse, J., Cairncross, C., Francendese, L., and Kocan, R.M. (2001). Reproductive and transgernerational effects of methylmercury or aroclor 1268 on fundulus heteroclitus. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 20(2): 327-335.
- Mehlem, A., Hagberg, C.E., Muhl, L., Eriksson, U., and Falkevall, A. (2013) Imaging of neutral lipids by oil red o for analyzing the metabolic status in health and disease. *Nature Protocols*. 8(6): 1149-1154.
- Moriarty, P.M., Picciano, M.F., Beard, J.L., and Reddy, C.C. (1995). Classical seleniumdependent glutathione peroxidase expression is decreased secondary to iron deficiency in rats. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 125(2): 293-301
- Moschonis, G., Chrousos, G.P., Lionis, C., Mougios, V., Manios, Y., Healthy Growth Study Group. (2012). Association of total body and visceral fat mass with iron deficiency in preadolescents: the healthy growth study. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 108(4): 710-719.
- Mottet, N.K., Shaw, C.M., and Burbacher, T.M. (1985). Health risks from increases in methylmercury exposure. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 63: 133-140.
- National Institutes of Health. (2013). Daphnia. *Model Organisms for Biomedical Research*. www.nih.gov/science/models/daphnia
- Nandyala, V., Gandiah, P., Karthik, R.S., Sivarajappa, P., Indira, G., and Krishna Prasad, T. (2013). A study of lipid profile in iron deficiency anemia. *International Journal of Recent Trends in Science and Technology*. 9(2): 258-266.
- Park, J.D., Cherrington, N.J., and Klaassen, C.D. (2002). Intestinal absorption of cadmium is associated with divalent metal transporter 1 in rats. *Toxicological Sciences*. 68: 288-294.
- Parkin, P.C., and Maguire, J.L. (2013). Iron deficiency in early childhood. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*. 185(14): 1237-1238.
- Peraza, M.A., Ayala-Fierro, F., Barber, D.S., Casarez, E., and Rael, L.T. (1998). Effects of micronutrients on metal toxicity. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 106(1): 203-216.
- Raírez-Zacarías, J.L., Castro-Muñozledo, F. and Kuri-Harcuch, W. (1992). Quantification of adipose conversion and triglycerides by staining intracytoplasmic lipids with oil red o. *Histochemistry* 97: 493-497.
- Rasband, W.S., ImageJ, U. S. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA, http://imagej.nih.gov/ij/, 1997-2014.
- Sandheinrich, M.B., and Miller, K.M. (2005). Effects of Dietary Methylmercury on reproductive behavior of fathead minnows (Pimephales promelas). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 25(11): 3053-3057

- Schilt, A.A., and Taylor, P.J. (1970). Simultaneous determination of iron and copper by a new spectrophotometric method. *Analytical Chemistry*. 42(2): 220-224.
- Scholl, T.O., Hediger, M.L., Fischer, R.L., and Shearer, J.W. (1992), Anemia vs iron deficiency: increased risk of preterm delivery in a prospective study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 55: 985-988.
- Schroeder, H.A., and Mitchener, M. (1974). Life-term effects of mercury, methylmercury, and nine other trace metals in mice. *The Journal of Nutrition*. 452-458.
- Shah, F., Kazi, T.G., Afridi, H.I., Kazi, N., Baig, J.A., Shah, A.Q., Khan, S., Kolachi, N.F., and Wadhwa, S.K. (2010). Evaluation of status and trace and toxic metals in biological samples (scalp hair, blood, and urine) of normal and anemic children of two age groups. *Biological Trace Element Research*.141: 131-149.
- Shirai, N., Yamaki, K., Yamashita, Y., Yamashita, M. (2012). Effect of dietary fat on total mercury content, antioxidative factors, and lipid profile in adult mice exposed to low levels of methylmercury. *Food Science and Technology Research*. 18(1): 119-125.
- Shaw, J.R., Colbourne, J.K., Davey, J.C., Glaholt, S.P., Hampton, T.H., Chen, C.Y., Folt, C.L., and Hamilton, J.W. (2007). Gene response profiles for Daphnia pulex exposed to the environmental stressor cadmium reveals novel crustacean metallothioneins. *BMC Genomics*. 8:477
- Smaridge, M.W. (1956). Distribution of iron in daphnia in relation to haemoglobin synthesis and breakdown. *Quarterly Journal of Microscopical Science*. 97(2): 205-214.
- Sood, P.P., Bapu, C., Sinha, N., and Rao, A.P. (1997). Cholesterol and triglyceride fluctuations in mice tissues during methylmercury intoxication and monothiols and vitamin therapy. *Journal of Nutritional & Environmental Medicine*. 7: 155-162.
- Soukas, A.A., Kane, E.A., Carr, C.E., Melo, J.A., and Ruvkun, G. (2009). Rictor/TORC2 regulates fat metabolism, feeding, growth, and life span in caenorhabditis elegans. *Genes & Development*. 23: 496-511.
- Stamps, W.T., and Linit, M.J. (1995). A rapid and simple method for staining lipid in fixed nematodes. *Journal of Nematology*. 27(2): 244-247.
- Stangl, G.I., and Kirchgessner, M. (1998). Different degrees of moderate iron deficiency modulate lipid metabolism of rats. *Lipids* 33: 889-895.

- Stoltzfus, R.J. (2003). Iron deficiency: global prevalence and consequences. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*. 24(4): S99-S103.
- Taber, K.H., and Hurley, R.A. (2008). Mercury exposure: effects across the lifespan. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*. 20(4): iv-389.
- Tamashiro, H., Fukutomi, K., and Lee, E.S. (1987). Methylmercury exposure and mortality in japan: a life table analysis. Archives of Environmental Health. 42(2): 100-107.
- Teilsch, J.M., Khatry, S.K., Stoltzfus, R.J., Katz, J., LeClerq, S.C., Adhikari, R., Mullany, L.C., Shresta, S., and Black, R.E. (2006). Effect of routine prophylactic supplementation with iron and folic acid on preschool child mortality in southern Nepal: community-based, cluster-randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet*. 367(9505): 144-152.
- Tessier, A.J., and Goulden, C.E. (1982). Estimating food limitation in cladoceran populations. *Limnology and Oceanography*. 27(4): 707-717.
- Thorisdottir, A.V., Gunnarsdottir, I., Palsson, G. I., Gretarsson, S. J., and Thorsdottir, I. (2013). Iron status and developmental scores in 6-year-olds highlights ongoing need to tackle iron deficiency in infants. *Foundation Acta Pædiatrica*. 102: 914-919.
- Tian-yi, C., & McNaught, D. C. (1992). Toxicity of methylmercury to Daphnia pulex. *Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology*. 49(4): 606-612.
- Tsui, M.T.K. and Wang, W. (2005). Influences of maternal exposure on the tolerance and physiological performance of daphnia magna under mercury stress. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 24(5): 1228-1234.
- Tsui, M.T.K. and Wang, W. (2004). Maternal transfer efficiency and transgenerational toxicity of methylmercury in Daphnia magna. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 23(4): 1504-1511.
- Tsui, M.T.K. and Wang, W. (2004). Uptake and elimination routes of inorganic mercury and methymercury in Daphnia magna. *Environmental Science and Technology*. 38: 808-815
- Tsukahara, T., Ezaki, T., Moriguchi, J., Furuki, K., Ukai, H., Okamoto, S., Sakurai, H., and Ikeda, M. (2002). Effects of iron-deficiency anemia on cadmium uptake or kidney dysfunction are essentially nil among women in general population in japan. *Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 197: 243-247.

- United Nations Environment Programme. (2013). *Global Mercury Assessment 2013: Sources, Emissions, Releases and Environmental Transport.* UNEP Chemicals Branch, Geneva, Switzerland.
- VanDuyn, N., Settivari, R., Wong, G., and Nass, R. (2010). SKN-1/nrf2 inhibits dopamine neuron degeneration in a caenorhabditis elegans model of methylmercury toxicity. *Toxicological Sciences*. 118(2): 613-624.
- World Health Organization. (2008). *Worldwide prevalence of anaemia 1993-2005: WHO Global Database on Anaemia*. Edited by Bruno de Benoist, Erin McLean, Ines Egli and Mary Cogswell.
- Wright, R.O., Shannon, M.W., Wright, R.J., and Hu, H. (1999). Associtation between iron deficiency and low-level lead poisoning in an urban primary care clinic. *American Journal of Public Health.* 89: 1049-1053.
- Yen, K., Le, T.T., Bansal, A., Narasimhan, S.D., Cheng, J.X., and Tissenbaum, H.A. (2010). A comparative study of fat storage quantitation in nematode Caenorhabditis elegans using label and label-free methods. *PLoS ONE* 5(9): e12810. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012810.
- Zahir, F., Rizwi, S.J., Haq, S.K., Khan, R.H. (2005). Low dose mercury toxicity and human health. *Environmental toxicology and pharmacology*. 20(2): 351-360.
- Zimmermann, M.B., and Hurrell, R.F. (2007). Nutritional iron deficiency. *Lancet*. 370: 511-20.